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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED 
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which 
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective 
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision 
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that 
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the 
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for 
the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability 
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Wing Fung Group Asia Limited (the “Company”) collectively and 
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard 
to the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, 
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete 
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would 
make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

383

114.6 62.2
54.3% 176.8

3.1
15.8 18.9

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, I 
hereby present the audited financial statements of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Relevant Period”).

REVIEW AND RESULTS

The Group is principally engaged as a subcontractor for the provision 
of supply, installation and fitting-out services of mechanical 
ventilation and air-conditioning (“MVAC”) system for various types 
of private and public building projects including infrastructural, 
commercial and residential building projects in Hong Kong and 
Macau.

During the Relevant Period, despite the local and global economies 
demonstrated modest growth  momentum, the overall market 
sentiment had remained weak, and with a lack of large construction 
projects being launched, competition in the construction industry 
intensified. Heightened financial costs, chronic shortage of skilled 
labour, rising inflation and prolonged geopolitical uncertainties 
continued to weigh on the local market, thereby exacerbating 
the industry’s strategic challenges and outlook. In response, the 
Group has adopted a pragmatic and positive attitude towards risks, 
focusing on quality control of project management, and improving 
cost control within budgets.

During the year 2024, amongst other projects, a new project was 
awarded to the Group with an initial contract sum exceeding 
HK$383 million in March 2024. This marks a new business milestone 
in the development of the Group as this represents the largest 
contract in terms of contract sum the Group has ever been awarded 
in Hong Kong. The Group will continue to regularly and closely 
monitor the progress of its ongoing projects and will continue 
to identify suitable tender opportunities and submit tenders for 
potential projects to maximise the Group’s profits and return to its 
shareholders.

The total revenue of the Group increased by approximately HK$62.2 
million or 54.3% from approximately HK$114.6 million for the 
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$176.8 million 
for the Relevant Period. Gross profit of the Group increased by 
approximately HK$15.8 million from approximately HK$3.1 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$18.9 
million for the Relevant Period.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group maintains a cautious outlook for the year 
2025 and will continue to explore cooperation with new customers 
and derive new revenue streams, and optimise resource utilisation 
and efficiencies in order to maximise return to our shareholders. 
In addition to the above, the Group continues to explore other 
investment opportunities in the future. Nonetheless, the Group 
will stay vigilant by constantly reviewing its business and tendering 
strategies and enhancing its operational efficiency and financial 
performance.

A NOTE OF APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I wish to take this opportunity to express 
my deep gratitude to our Shareholders, clients, business partners, 
suppliers and subcontractors for their continuous support. I would 
also like to express our sincere appreciation to the Group’s 
management and staff for their commitment, contribution and 
dedication throughout the years.

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited 
Chung Chi Keung
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

1.1
35.9

(i)
(ii) (iii)

3.7 (iv)

11.2

383

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is principally engaged as a subcontractor for the provision 
of supply, installation and fitting-out services of MVAC system 
for various types of private and public building projects including 
infrastructural, commercial and residential building projects in Hong 
Kong and Macau.

During the Relevant Period, despite the local and global economies 
demonstrated modest growth  momentum, the overall market 
sentiment had remained weak, and with a lack of large construction 
projects being launched, competition in the construction industry 
intensified. Heightened financial costs, chronic shortage of skilled 
labour, rising inflation and prolonged geopolitical uncertainties 
continued to weigh on the local market, thereby exacerbating 
the industry’s strategic challenges and outlook. In response, the 
Group has adopted a pragmatic and positive attitude towards risks, 
focusing on quality control of project management, and improving 
cost control within budgets.

Dur ing the Relevant Per iod, the Group recorded a prof i t 
of approximately HK$1.1 mil l ion as compared to a loss of 
approximately HK$35.9 million in the corresponding period in 2023. 
The turnaround from loss to profit during the Relevant Period was 
mainly due to (i) an increase in revenue, (ii) better cost control during 
the Relevant Period, (iii) reversal of impairment losses on trade 
receivables and contract assets of approximately HK$3.7 million for 
the Relevant Period, and (iv) absence of write-off of contract assets 
for the Relevant Period as compared to write-off of contract assets 
of approximately HK$11.2 million recognised for the year ended 31 
December 2023. During the year 2024, amongst other projects, a 
new project was awarded to the Group with an initial contract sum 
exceeding HK$383 million in March 2024 (“New Project”). This 
marks a new business milestone in the development of the Group 
as this represents the largest contract in terms of contract sum the 
Group has ever been awarded in Hong Kong. Nonetheless, any delay 
of the New Project may potentially affect the financial results of 
the Group for the year ending 31 December 2025. The Group will 
continue to regularly and closely monitor the progress of its ongoing 
projects and will continue to identify suitable tender opportunities 
and submit tenders for potential projects to maximise the Group’s 
profits and return to its shareholders.



8

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

114.6 62.2
176.8 54.3%

(i)
3.5

(ii)

132.3
(i)

5.2 (ii)

59.4
68.4

111.5
157.9 41.6%

Looking ahead, the Group maintains a cautious outlook for the year 
2025 and will continue to explore cooperation with new customers 
and derive new revenue streams, and optimise resource utilisation 
and efficiencies in order to maximise return to our shareholders. 
In addition to the above, the Group continues to explore other 
investment opportunities in the future. Nonetheless, the Group 
will stay vigilant by constantly reviewing its business and tendering 
strategies and enhancing its operational efficiency and financial 
performance. 

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our revenue increased by approximately HK$62.2 million, from 
approximately HK$114.6 million for the year ended 31 December 
2023 to approximately HK$176.8 million for the Relevant Period, 
representing an increase of approximately 54.3%. In particular, 
while the Group recorded (i) an increase in revenue of approximately 
HK$3.5 million from new projects (in particular a new project 
located at Wong Chuk Hang); and (ii) an increase in revenue of 
approximately HK$132.3 million due to the increase in the amount 
of work under our existing projects as compared with the year ended 
31 December 2023 (in particular, a project located at Kai Tak and a 
project located at Tseung Kwan O), the aforesaid increments were 
offset by (i) a decrease in revenue of approximately HK$5.2 million 
resulting from the completion of certain projects during the Relevant 
Period; and (ii) a decrease in revenue of approximately HK$68.4 
million due to the decrease in the amount of work under our existing 
projects as compared with the year ended 31 December 2023 (in 
particular, two other projects located at Kai Tak together accounted 
for a decrease in revenue of approximately HK$59.4 million).

Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales increased from approximately HK$111.5 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$157.9 
million for the Relevant Period, representing an increase of 
approximately 41.6% which was in line with the increase in revenue 
for the Relevant Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

3.1 15.8
18.9

2.7%
10.7%

17.1% 78.4%

18.3
18.4

2.1

4.4

1.1
35.9

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our gross profit increased by approximately HK$15.8 million from 
approximately HK$3.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 
to approximately HK$18.9 million for the Relevant Period. The gross 
profit margin increased from approximately 2.7% for the year ended 
31 December 2023 to approximately 10.7% for the Relevant Period. 
The increase in gross profit and gross profit margin was primarily 
attributable to increase in the contribution of revenue derived from 
an existing project in Kai Tak (which recorded a relatively higher 
gross profit margin for the Relevant Period) to our total revenue 
from approximately 17.1% for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 
approximately 78.4% for the Relevant Period.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrat ive expenses remained relat ively stable at 
approximately HK$18.3 million during the Relevant Period (2023: 
approximately HK$18.4 million).

Income Tax Expense/Credit

The Group recorded income tax expense of approximately HK$2.1 
million for the Relevant Period while the Group recorded income 
tax credit of approximately HK$4.4 million for the year ended 31 
December 2023, mainly attributable to increase in deferred income 
tax due to utilisation of tax loss brought forward from prior years.

Profit/Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, our Group recognised a profit of 
approximately HK$1.1 million for the Relevant Period as compared 
with a loss of approximately HK$35.9 million for the corresponding 
period in 2023.



10

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

126.1
130.8

59.4
65.1 66.7

65.7

27.3

25.2
1.8
2.0

43.2%
38.0%

 (i)
(ii)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had tota l assets of 
approximately HK$126.1 million (2023: approximately HK$130.8 
million), which is financed by total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 
(comprising share capital and reserves) of approximately HK$59.4 
million (2023: approximately HK$65.1 million) and approximately 
HK$66.7 million (2023: approximately HK$65.7 million), respectively.

The total interest-bearing borrowings (including bank borrowings 
and bank overdrafts) of the Group decreased from approximately 
HK$27.3 million as at 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$25.2 
million as at 31 December 2024. Current ratio increased from 1.8 
times as at 31 December 2023 to approximately 2.0 times as at 31 
December 2024.

The Group’s borrowing and bank balances are mainly denominated 
in Hong Kong dollars and there was no significant exposure to 
foreign exchange rate fluctuations during the Relevant Period.

The Group’s gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing the total 
interest-bearing borrowings and lease liabilities by total equity at 
the year-end date, decreased from approximately 43.2% as at 31 
December 2023 to approximately 38.0% as at 31 December 2024, 
primarily due to the combined effect of (i) the decrease in the total 
interest-bearing borrowings; and (ii) the increase in total equity 
resulting from the increase in retained earnings attributable to 
recording a net profit for the Relevant Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) 

3

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business 
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties 
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The 
management of the Company considers that the following are the 
principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group:

(i) the outbreak of any pandemic could adversely affect the 
Group’s business operations and financial performance by 
potentially causing suspension of works, delay in delivery of 
construction materials, increase in material and logistics costs 
and other interruption to the operation of the Group;

(ii) the business of the Group relies on successful tenders and any 
failure of the Group to secure tender contracts would affect 
sustainability of our revenue streams and adversely affect the 
operations and financial results of the Group;

(iii) erroneous or inaccurate estimation of project duration and 
the costs involved for the determination of tender price may 
adversely affect the profitability and financial performance of 
the Group;

(iv) cost overrun, any delay in project schedule or defects of the 
works of the suppliers and subcontractors of the Group could 
adversely affect its operations and financial results;

(v) reliance on major customers for a significant portion of the 
Group’s revenue may expose the Group to credit and liquidity 
risks of such major customers and may have impact on the 
Group’s cash flow and financial conditions; and

(vi) reliance on key management for the Group’s operation may 
subject the Group to material adverse effect on business 
operation and profitability in case of departure of members 
of the key management team without timely and appropriate 
replacement.

Please also refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements in 
this annual report for details of the financial risks faced by the Group 
and the relevant risk management measures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

 

1 10

(i) (ii)
(iii)

(iv)

Relationship with customers, suppliers, subcontractors and 
employees

Customers

The Group’s customers mainly include main contractors and 
subcontractors of various types of building projects including 
infrastructural, commercial and residential building projects in Hong 
Kong and Macau. The Group has maintained business relationship 
with the top customers for a period ranging from approximately 
1 year to over 10 years. The Directors believe the Group has 
established good relationship with its customers and receives 
invitations from the repeat customers to submit tenders from time to 
time.

Suppliers and Subcontractors

During the Relevant Period, the suppliers and subcontractors of 
the Group included (i) suppliers of air conditioning equipment 
and materials; (ii) suppliers of processing services on the Group’s 
equipment and materials; (iii) machinery rental service providers; and
(iv) subcontractors engaged by the Group to perform the site works. 
The Group engaged the suppliers and subcontractors on a regular 
basis.

The Group maintains an internal list of approved suppliers and 
subcontractors. The Group selects suppliers based on a number 
of factors such as their prices, quality of the goods and services 
supplied, past performances and timeliness of delivery. While 
engaging subcontractors, the Group selects the subcontractors 
for a project by taking into account their availability of resources 
and manpower, experience, track record, service quality, safety 
performance, timeliness of delivery, reputation and fee quotations.

The Group did not encounter any material difficulty in sourcing 
equipment and materials and services from our suppliers or assigning 
subcontractors during the Relevant Period.

Employees

The Group respects its employees and endeavours to provide 
better working conditions for its employees. We offer competitive 
remuneration and a fair, flexible and transparent recruitment process 
to attract and retain talents and promotes equal opportunities 
among employees. Further details can also be found in section 
headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this 
annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GEM
5,740,000

574,000,000 0.01

0.144
75,000,000 0.01

(4)
0.01

(1)
0.04

6,490,000
6,490,000 162,250,000

162,250,000
0.04

0.04

Capital Structure

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed 
on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 27 February 2018 (the “Listing”). 
Immediately upon Listing, the total issued share capital of the 
Company was HK$5,740,000 divided into 574,000,000 Shares of 
par value of HK$0.01 each.

On 19 November 2021, 75,000,000 shares of par value HK$0.01 
each of the Company were issued at a price of HK$0.144 by 
way of placing under general mandate (the “Placing”). For 
further information in relation to the Placing, please refer to the 
announcements of the Company dated 22 October 2021, 12 
November 2021 and 19 November 2021.

On 21 January 2022, every four (4) issued and unissued existing 
shares of the Company of par value HK$0.01 each in the share 
capital of the Company were consolidated into one (1) consolidated 
share of par value HK$0.04 each in the share capital of the 
Company.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s issued share capital was 
HK$6,490,000 (31 December 2023: HK$6,490,000) divided into 
162,250,000 (31 December 2023: 162,250,000) ordinary Shares of 
par value of HK$0.04 (31 December 2023: HK$0.04) each.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any 
capital commitments contracted but not provided for.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any 
plans for material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 
2024.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates 
and Joint Ventures

During the Relevant Period, the Group did not have any material 
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

1,268,000

392,000
380,000

132,000 128,000

26

18

Litigation

As disclosed in the 2022 annual report (for more details, please 
refer to the management discussion and analysis section headed 
“Litigation”), Botop Engineering (Macau) Limited (“Botop Macau”), 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company was involved in a legal 
proceeding. Court hearings were held on 4 September 2023, 15 
September 2023, 13 October 2023, 26 January 2024, 30 May 
2024 and 8 July 2024. On 4 October 2024, Botop Macau received 
the judgment (“Judgment”) handed down by the Macau Tribunal 
Judicial De Base The 4th Civil Court and dated 26 September 2024 
in respect of the Litigation. According to the Judgment, the claim 
submitted by a subcontractor of the Group in Macau claiming the 
allegedly due and unpaid balance of additional subcontracting fees 
against Botop Macau for a sum of approximately MOP1,268,000 was 
dismissed whereas Botop Macau shall repay the claimant retention 
payables of approximately MOP392,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$380,000) and the outstanding interest calculated at judgment 
rate of approximately MOP132,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$128,000) (together “Judgment Debt”). The Judgment Debt has 
been fully paid by Botop Macau and the Litigation was concluded. 

Contingent Liabilities

Save as disclosed in note 26 of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 
2023, the Group did not have other material contingent liabilities.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group’s revenue generating operations are mainly transacted 
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and Macau Pataca (“MOP”). The 
Directors consider the impact of foreign exchange exposure to the 
Group is minimal and the Group did not engage in any derivatives 
agreements nor commit to any financial instrument to hedge its 
foreign exchange exposure during the Relevant Period.

Pledge of Assets

Save for the pledged bank deposits as disclosed in note 18 of the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, as at 31 December 
2024 and 2023, the Group did not have other pledge of assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

206 165
167

120

21.2
22.7

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 206 (31 
December 2023: 165) employees, of whom 167 (31 December 
2023: 120) were labour workers nominated by subcontractors. The 
increase in the number of employees was mainly attributable to the 
increase of labour workers nominated by subcontractors in respect 
of a project located at Kai Tak which was commenced in 2023. 
The relevant cost of employing the labour workers nominated by 
subcontractors was classified as subcontracting charges and the 
staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments, of the Group were 
approximately HK$21.2 million for the Relevant Period (2023: 
approximately HK$22.7 million).

The Group promotes individuals based on their performance and 
development potential in the positions held. In order to attract 
and retain high quality staff, competitive remuneration package is 
offered to employees (with reference to market norms and individual 
employees’ performance, qualification and experience). On top of 
basic salaries, bonuses may be paid with reference to the Group’s 
performance as well as individual’s performance. Other staff benefits 
include provision of retirement benefits, medical benefits and 
sponsorship of training courses.

Events after the Reporting Period

No significant events have taken place subsequent to 31 December 
2024 and up to the date of this report.



16

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

7 15

GEM
C1

C.2.1

C.2.1

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Directors and the management of the Group recognise the 
importance of sound corporate governance to the long-term success 
and continuing development of the Group. Therefore, the Board is 
committed to upholding good corporate standards and procedures, 
so as to enhance the accountability system and transparency of 
the Group, protect the interests of the Company’s stakeholders 
and create value for shareholders of the Company. The discussion 
and analysis of the group’s performance has been set out in 
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 15 of this 
annual report.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on 
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate 
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the 
GEM Listing Rules. Throughout the Relevant Period, the Company 
has adopted and complied with, where applicable, the CG Code 
to ensure that the Group’s business activities and decision-making 
processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner, except for 
Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of 
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should 
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Chung Chi Keung 
(“Mr. Chung”) is currently the chairman of the Board and the 
chief executive officer of the Company, responsible for formulating 
the overall business strategies and overseeing the business and 
operation of the Group. Considering that Mr. Chung has been 
responsible for the overall management and operation of the Group 
since its inception, the Board believes that it is in the best interest 
of the Group to have Mr. Chung taking up both roles for effective 
management and business development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

CULTURE

The Board believes that a healthy corporate culture underpins the 
long-term business, economic success and sustainable growth of the 
Group. A strong culture enables the Company to deliver long-term 
sustainable performance and fulfil its role as a responsible corporate 
citizen. The Company is committed to developing a positive and 
progressive culture that is built on its purpose, vision, mission and 
values. The followings are the key features of the Company’s culture:

Integrity

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of business 
ethics and corporate governance across all our activities and 
operations. The Directors, management and staff are all required to 
act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the required standards 
and norms are explicitly set out in the training materials for all new 
staff and embedded in various policies such as the Group’s employee 
handbook (including therein the Group’s code of conduct), the 
anticorruption policy and the whistleblowing policy of the Group.

Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to workforce 
development, workplace safety and health, diversity, and 
sustainability is one where people have a feeling of commitment 
and emotional engagement with the Group’s mission. This sets the 
tone for a strong, productive workforce that attracts, develops, 
and retains the best talent and produces the highest quality work. 
Moreover, the Company’s strategy in the business development 
and management are to achieve long-term, steady and sustainable 
growth, while having due considerations from environment, social 
and governance aspects.

The Board sets and promotes corporate culture and expects and 
requires all employees to reinforce. All of our new employees are 
required to attend orientation and training programs so that they 
may better understand our corporate culture, structure and policies, 
learn relevant laws and regulations, and raise their quality awareness. 
In addition, from time to time, the Company will invite external 
experts to provide training to our management personnel to improve 
their relevant knowledge and management skills.

The Board considers that the corporate culture and the purpose, 
values and strategy of the Group are aligned.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A.2.1

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall Management

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the business 
of the Group, formulating the Group’s overall strategic direction and 
corporate governance and maintaining appropriate levels of review, 
challenge and guidance in its relationship with the management. 
The management is delegated with the authority and responsibility 
by the Board for the day-to-day management and administration of 
the Group.

The Board is provided with the updates from management to give 
a balanced and understandable assessment of the performance, 
recent development and prospects of the Group on a regular basis. 
The Board is the ultimate decision-making body for all matters 
material to the Group and discharges its responsibilities on corporate 
governance either by itself or the Board Committees set out in Code 
Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code which include the following:

1. to develop and review the policies and practice on corporate 
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional 
development of the Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and 
compliance manual applicable to the Directors and employees; 
and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and 
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.
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57 62

GEM 5.05A 5.05(1) (2)

GEM
5.09

Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprises five Directors, 
including two executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors (the “INED”) as set out below:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chung Chi Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Lai Suk Fan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Choy Hiu Fai Eric
Mr. Lei For
Mr. Lai Wai Ming

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Biographical 
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 57 to 62 of 
this annual report.

In compliance with Rules 5.05A, 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing 
Rules, the Company has appointed three INEDs representing not 
less than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has 
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related 
financial management expertise. The Company has received from 
each INED an annual confirmation of his independence, and the 
Board, through the nomination committee of the Company (the 
“Nomination Committee”), has assessed and considered the INEDs 
to be independent during the Relevant Period in accordance with 
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board considers that the balance of power and authority, 
accountability and independent decision-making under our present 
arrangement will not be impaired because of the diverse background 
and experience of our INEDs. Furthermore, all Board Committees 
including the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit 
Committee”) has free and direct access to the Company’s external 
auditor or independent professional adviser(s) when they consider 
necessary.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there are no other relationship 
(including financial business, family, and other material/relevant 
relationships) among the members of the Board as of the date of 
this report.
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Board Independence

The Company recognises that Board independence is key to 
good corporate governance. The Company has in place effective 
mechanisms that underpin an independent Board and that 
independent views are available.

The current composition of the Board, comprising more than one 
third of the Board being INEDs, and the members of the Audit 
Committee are all INEDs exceed the independence requirements 
under the L ist ing Rules. The Nominat ion Committee, the 
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration 
Committee”) and Audit Committee are all chaired by INEDs. The 
remuneration of INEDs are subject to a regular review to maintain 
competitiveness and commensurate with their responsibilities and 
workload. The independence of each INED is assessed upon his 
appointment and annually.

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests, 
if any, in proposals or transactions to be considered by the Board 
at the Board meetings and abstain from voting, where appropriate. 
External independent professional advice is available to all Directors, 
including independent non-executive Directors, whenever deemed 
necessary. The INEDs have consistently demonstrated strong 
commitment and the ability to devote sufficient time to discharge 
their responsibilities at the Board.

The Company has also established channels through formal and 
informal means whereby INEDs can express their views in an open 
manner, and in a confidential manner, should circumstances 
requires.

The Company has reviewed the implementation of the mechanisms 
in relation to the Board Independence and considered it to be 
effective during the Reporting Period.
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Board Diversity

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director 
having skills, experience and expertise complementing the business 
operations and development of the Group and from a variety 
of backgrounds. There is diversity of education, professional 
background, functional expertise, gender, age, culture and industrial 
experience.

20%

80%
60%

40%40%

60%

Composition of the Board Age Gender

Executive 
Director

Independent
Non-executive
Director

Female 

Male 

40–49 

60 or above

董事會組成 年齡 性別

執行董事

女性

男性

獨立非執行董事

40至49歲

60歲或以上

(As at 31 December 2024)

The Board targets to maintain at least the current level of female 
representation.

A Board Diversity Policy of the Company was adopted in preparation 
for the Listing and amended in December 2018 and March 2024 
by the Board. The said Policy sets out the approach to achieve 
diversity at Board level and the factors (including but not limited 
to skills, regional and industry experience, professional experience, 
background, education, race, gender, age, culture and other 
qualities, etc.) to be considered in determining the composition of 
the Board so as to ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance 
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to 
support the execution of its business strategy and to maximise the 
Board’s effectiveness.

During the Relevant Period, the Board reviewed the implementation 
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and is satisfied that 
the Board Diversity Policy has been properly implemented during 
2024 and is effective.
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182:24

C.2.7

Workforce diversity

The gender ratio of male to female in the workforce (including senior 
management) for the Relevant Period is 182:24. Building service 
industry has generally been short of female talents due to social and 
culture traditions. The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced 
and the Group will continue to maintain the gender diversity in 
workforce. For further details of gender ratio and initiatives taken 
to improve gender diversity together with the relevant data, please 
refer to the disclosure in the Environmental, Social and Governance 
Report.

Board Process and Meetings

The Board meets regularly to determine overall strategies, receive 
management updates, approve business plans as well as financial 
results and to consider other significant matters to the Group. 
Management also provides updates to the Board with respect to the 
business activities and development of the Group on a regular basis.

Each Director ensures that he/she can give sufficient time and 
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the 
Group’s development through their constructive and informed 
comments. All of the members of the Board have also disclosed and 
updated their number and nature of offices held and time involved 
in handling the matters of the Company on a regular basis.

During the Relevant Period, the Board had held four meetings to 
approve, among other things, matters relating to the interim and 
annual financial results, the scope of services and related fees to the 
external auditors and to review the business strategies and consider 
the reports from each Board Committee. The Board also considered 
and approved various matters, among other things, including the 
engagement of consultant to internal control function. The Directors’ 
attendance records of the Board meetings held during the Relevant 
Period are set out below. An annual general meeting (“AGM”) and 
a private meeting between the Chairman and the INEDs as required 
by Code C.2.7 of the CG Code had been held during the Relevant 
Period.
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(1) 

(2) 

Members of the Board

Attendance of Board and Committee Meeting, Annual General 
Meeting and Training during the Relevant Period

Name of Directors

No. of Board 
meetings 

attended/eligible 
to attend

No. of Audit 
Committee 

meetings 
attended/eligible 

to attend

No. of 
Remuneration 

Committee 
meetings 

attended/eligible 
to attend

No. of Nomination 
Committee 

meetings 
attended/eligible 

to attend

Annual General 
Meeting 

(6 June 2024) Training Note 1

1

         

Executive Directors
Mr. Chung Chi Keung 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 ✔ ✔

Ms. Lai Suk Fun 4/4 N/A N/A N/A ✔ ✔

Independent Non-executive 
 Directors
Mr. Choy Hiu Fai Eric 4/4 2/2 1/1 N/A ✔ ✔

Mr. Lei For 4/4 2/2 N/A 1/1 ✔ ✔

Mr. Lai Wai Ming 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 ✔ Note 2

2

✔

         

Notes:

(1) This includes attending briefings, seminars, conferences, forum 
relevant to the directors’ duties and responsibilities, the Group’s 
business, development, strategies, etc. arranged by the Company or 
external organisations or reading regulatory/corporate governance 
updates.

(2) Attended the AGM via tele-conference.
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16.17

16.2

GEM
5.48 5.67

Terms of Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors have entered into a service 
agreement, and each of the INEDs signed a letter of appointment 
with, the Company. Both the said service agreements and letters of 
appointment are for a term of three years from 27 February 2018, 
being the date on which the Shares are listed on GEM, subject to 
further renewal and re-election in accordance with the articles of 
association of the Company, as amended from time to time, (the 
“Articles”) and termination in accordance with their respective 
terms. The service agreement of each executive Director and the 
letter of appointment of each INED have been renewed for another 
term of 3 years commencing from 27 February 2024 on the same 
terms and conditions.

Pursuant to Article 16.17 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors 
shall retire from office by rotation at each AGM of the Company 
and every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least 
every three years. However, a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election. Any Director who is appointed by the Board to fill a casual 
vacancy and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition 
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following 
general meeting of the Company and shall be eligible for re-election 
at that meeting pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles.

As such, Mr. Lai Wai Ming (“Mr. Lai”) and Mr. Chung will retire 
from office as Directors and, being eligible, will offer themselves 
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company which is 
scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 20 May 2025 in accordance with 
the Articles and relevant code provision under the CG Code.

Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Group has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities 
transactions by the Directors on the terms no less exacting than 
the required standard of dealing set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has also made specific 
enquiry of all the Directors and all Directors confirmed that they had 
complied with the required standard of securities dealings regarding 
transactions during the Relevant Period. The Company was not 
aware of any non-compliance with the required standard of dealings 
regarding securities transactions by the Directors during the Relevant 
Period.
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(www.hkexnews.hk)
(www.wingfunggroup.com)

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

The Group acknowledges the importance of continuing professional 
development for the Directors to extend and refresh their knowledge 
and skills. Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a 
director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and 
developments of the Company.

The Directors are fully aware of the requirement under the Code 
Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code regarding professional development. 
During the Relevant Period, the Company had provided and 
circulated regulatory updates and training materials to the Directors 
from time to time to ensure that all Directors keep abreast of the 
latest development in the regulatory areas relating to the Group. 
All Directors and provided their training records during the Relevant 
Period to the Company. Details of the training records are set out on 
page 23 of this annual report.

Board Committees

The Board established three Board committees, namely the Audit 
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee 
by resolutions of Directors passed on 31 January 2018, for overseeing 
particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. All Board committees were 
established with written terms of reference in compliance with the 
relevant code provisions of the CG Code, which are available at the 
Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s 
website (www.wingfunggroup.com).
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 31 January 2018. The 
Audit Committee currently consists of three members, namely Mr. 
Choy Hiu Fai Eric (“Mr. Choy”), Mr. Lei For (“Mr. Lei”) and Mr. Lai, 
all of whom are our INEDs. Mr. Choy is the chairman of the Audit 
Committee, who holds the appropriate professional qualifications as 
required under Rules 5.05(2) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The pr imary dut ies of the Audit Committee are to make 
recommendat ions to the Board on the appo intment o r 
reappointment and removal of external auditor; review financial 
statements/information of the Company and judgments in respect 
of financial reporting; oversee the effectiveness of the procedures of 
the internal control procedures and risk management of the Group; 
and review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and 
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Two Audit Committee meetings were held during the Relevant 
Period. Details of the attendance records of each Audit Committee’s 
member are set out on page 23 of this annual report. During 
the said meetings, the Audit Committee had reviewed and made 
recommendations on various matters including the annual and 
interim financial results and the respective financial reporting of 
the Group, status on the internal control, financial control and risk 
management, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and 
experience, training programmes and budget of the accounting, 
internal audit and financial reporting functions, discussed with the 
management and the external auditor on the accounting principles 
and practices adopted by the Group, the auditor’s independence 
status of, audit and non-audit services provided by the auditor 
and re-appointment of the external auditor. The Committee also 
reviewed and made recommendation to the Board regarding the 
engagement of consultant to the internal control function during the 
Relevant Period. More information about the internal control and risk 
management can be found on pages 30 to 32 of this annual report.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the audited consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the Relevant Period and was of 
the opinion that the said audited consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting 
standards and the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Relevant Period, the Audit Committee members also met 
the external auditor in the absence of the executive Directors and 
management to discuss the audit related matters.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 31 January 2018. 
The Remuneration Committee consists of three members and is 
chaired by an INED and comprises a majority of INEDs in accordance 
with the requirements under Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules. 
This includes Mr. Lai who is the chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and Mr. Choy, both of whom are our INEDs, and our 
executive Director, Mr. Chung.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make 
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy 
and structure relating to all Directors, senior management and 
general staff of the Group assessing the performance of executive 
Directors, approving the terms of executive Directors’ service 
contracts and to ensure that none of the Directors or any their 
associates determine their own remuneration.

One Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the Relevant 
Period to review the remuneration structure of the Directors. 
Details of the attendance records of each Remuneration Committee 
members are set out on page 23 of this annual report.

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

A directors’ remuneration policy has been adopted. It aims to set out 
the Company’s policy in respect of remuneration paid to Executive 
Directors and Non-executive Directors.

The directors’ remuneration policy sets out the remuneration 
structure that allows the Company to attract, motivate and retain 
qualified Directors who can manage and lead the Company in 
achieving its strategic objective and contribute to the Company’s 
performance and sustainable growth, and to provide Directors with a 
balanced and competitive remuneration. The remuneration policy is, 
therefore, aiming at being competitive but not excessive. To achieve 
this, remuneration package is determined with reference to a matrix 
of factors, including the individual performance, qualification and 
experience of Directors concerned and prevailing industry practice. 
It will be reviewed and, if necessary, updated from time to time to 
ensure its continued effectiveness.
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Directors and Senior Management’s Remuneration

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the Relevant Period are 
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5. of the CG Code, the remuneration 
of the member of the senior management (other than the Directors) 
whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Biographical 
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report 
for the Relevant Period by band is set out below.

 
Number of Individual

 

Remuneration Band (in HK$)

For the year ended 
31 December 2024

For the year ended 
31 December 2023

    

1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001 1,500,000 1 1
    

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 31 January 2018. 
The Nomination Committee consists of three members and is chaired 
by an INED and comprises a majority of INEDs in accordance with 
the requirements under Rule 5.36A of the GEM Listing Rule. This 
includes Mr. Lei who is the chairman of the Nomination Committee 
and Mr. Lai, both of whom are our INEDs, and our executive 
Director, Mr. Chung.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the 
structure, size and composition of the Board annually by reference 
to the factors as set out in the Diversity Policy, identify individuals 
suitably qualified to become Board members; assess independence 
of independent non-executive Directors and make recommendations 
to the Board on matters relat ing to the appointment and 
reappointment of Directors with reference to the Nomination Policy.
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To enhance the nomination process for a director candidate, a 
Nomination Policy was adopted as a guidance on the selection 
process and board succession planning. The Nomination Committee 
utilises various methods for identifying director candidates, including 
recommendations from the Board members, management, and 
professional search firms and may review of resume and job history, 
conduct personal interviews and verification of professional and 
personal references or perform the background checks, etc. On 
evaluation of the director candidates including incumbents and 
candidates nominated by the Shareholders, the Board and the 
Nomination Committee will take into account whether a candidate 
has the qualifications, skills and experience, gender diversity, etc. 
that can add to and complement the range of skills, experience and 
background of the existing Directors and may consider the following 
qualifications are at a minimum to be required of a director 
candidate in recommending to the Board potential new Director, or 
the continued service of existing Director:

• the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

• proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field 
and the ability to exercise sound business judgment; skills that 
are complementary to those of the existing Board;

• the ability to assist and support management and make 
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

• an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is 
required of a member of the Board and the commitment 
of time and energy necessary to diligently carry out those 
responsibilities; and

• independence as required by the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Relevant Period, one Nomination Committee meeting 
was held to review the structure, size and composition of the 
Board by reference to the criteria as mentioned above, assess the 
independence of the INEDs and make recommendation on the 
re-election of the Directors at the annual general meeting of the 
Company held on 6 June 2024.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy and its implementation can be 
found on page 21 of this annual report. Details of the attendance 
records of each Nomination Committee member are set out on page 
23 of this annual report.
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76 83

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Law Pak Hin Edward (“Mr. Law”) was appointed as Company 
Secretary of the Company on 14 February 2017. Please refer to the 
section “Biographical details of Directors and Senior Management” 
for his biographical information.

During the Relevant Period, Mr. Law undertook more than 15 hours 
of professional training as required by the Rule 5.15 of the GEM 
Listing Rules to update his skills and knowledge.

DIRECTORS’ AND EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S 
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of the 
financial statements which give a true and fair of the state of affairs 
of the Group. In preparing the financial statements which give a true 
and fair view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies 
should be selected and applied consistently.

The statement of external auditor about its reporting responsibilities 
on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the 
independent auditor’s report on pages 76 to 83 of this annual 
report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group and the Board recognise the importance of good 
internal control procedures including the procedures for handling 
and dissemination of inside information and its effectiveness in 
safeguarding the Shareholders’ interests. The Group has strictly 
prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside information or 
any use of such information for the advantage of any individual. The 
Board also acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management 
and internal control systems and discharges its responsibilities to 
oversee management in design, implementation and monitoring 
of the risk management and internal control system and its 
effectiveness. The risk management and internal control systems 
are designed to manage rather than eliminating the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable 
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 
As delegated by the Board, the Audit Committee will review of the 
Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal control 
system and its effectiveness and report to the Board on a regular 
basis and at least annually.
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The Group also established a set of risk management policies 
and measures. The Group’s risk management process starts with 
identifying the major risks associated with its business, industry and 
market in the ordinary course of business. The Board and senior 
management are responsible for identifying the analysing the risk 
associated with their respective function, preparing and measuring 
risk mitigation plans and reporting the status of risk management. 
More information about the principal risks and uncertainties faced 
by the Group can be found on page 11 of this annual report.

The Group has maintained internal control guidance covering the 
Group’s operation processes relating to subcontract, purchase and 
expenditure and human resources, etc. and overseen their operations 
by the senior management. In view of the size and business nature 
of the Group, the Company does not establish a standalone internal 
audit function but has engaged an external independent consultant 
to review and assess our internal control systems (including financial, 
operational and management systems, compliance and governance 
matters) during the Relevant Period. No material internal control 
deficiency was identified by the external consultant and the Group’s 
management had worked with the external consultant to enhance 
the Group’s internal control system.

During the Relevant Period, the Audit Committee, has conducted 
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal 
control system of the Group. The external internal control consultant 
also reported to the Audit Committee on their factual findings and 
recommendation for improvements on our internal control systems 
over the above-mentioned processes and procedures.

The Group has implemented the necessary internal control measures 
based on the recommendation of the external internal control 
consultant. The external internal control consultant confirmed such 
modified and new internal control procedures are satisfactorily 
implemented upon the conduct of follow-up review. The Audit 
Committee was satisfied and considers that the Group’s risk 
management and internal control procedures are sufficient to meet 
the Company’s needs in its current business environment and in 
terms of practicability.

Hence, the Group considers its risk management and internal control 
systems effective and adequate.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to preventing, detecting, and reporting 
to any levels of bribery and corruption. The Anti-Corruption Policy 
was adopted in August 2022 to provide principles for all directors, 
officers, and employees to operate conduct business with integrity 
and to reduce the risk of corruption and bribery. The Group conducts 
periodic and systematic fraud risk assessments to mitigate fraud risks 
identified internally and externally. Proper trainings and briefings 
related to bribery, corruption, conflicts of interest, money laundering 
and financing of terrorism, non-compliance with the Prevention of 
Bribery Ordinance will also be provided to all employees.

Whistleblowing

A Whistleblowing Policy was adopted in August 2022 to provide 
guidance on the procedure of reporting allegations of any fraud 
and misconduct, malpractice or irregularity by employees and 
stakeholders. All filed whistleblowing reports and the identity of 
the whistleblowers are treated in a strictly confidential manner in 
accordance with the procedures set out in the policy. The matter 
raised may be investigated internally and referred to the Board, or be 
referred to external lawyers or auditors.

Once the investigation is completed, a report including the impact 
of the matter reported and an action plan will be prepared by 
the Audit Committee. Disciplinary and other appropriate actions 
will be determined by the responsible line management while 
recommendations will be made by the Audit Committee for the 
Board’s final decision on the actions required.

No incident of fraud or misconduct that has material effect on the 
Group’s financial statements or overall operations was reported 
during the Relevant Period. The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed 
annually by the Audit Committee to ensure its effectiveness.



33Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
Annual Report 2024

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the 
Shareholders to be its goal and endeavours to maintain a dividend 
policy to achieve such goal.

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy as a guidance on the 
payment of the dividend. In deciding whether to propose a dividend 
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board would take into 
account the Group’s results of operations, earnings performance, 
cashflows, financial condition, future prospects, as well as statutory 
and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends, and other 
factors that the Board may consider relevant. The Board will review 
from time to time the above factors in determining any dividend 
proposal, there can be no assurance that dividends will be declared 
or paid in any particular amount for any given period.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited (“Forvis Mazars”) is the external auditor 
of the Company which was appointed by the Board on 29 October 
2021 following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) 
on the same date.

The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendation to 
the Board on the resignation, appointment or re-appointment and 
removal of the external auditor, which is subject to the approval 
by the Board and/or at the general meetings of the Company by 
its shareholders. The Audit Committee would consider various 
factors including the independence, experience and qualification 
of auditor, their fee, terms of engagement and staffing plan 
for recommendation to the Board for the appointment or re-
appointment of the auditor of the Company.
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For the Relevant Period, the fee paid or payable in respect of the 
statutory audit services and non-audit services of the Group are as 
follows:

 
Fee paid or payable for services rendered

 
FY2024 FY2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Statutory audit services 670 710 *
Non-audit and other services 71 22
    

* The non-audit services for attending the AGM and agreed-upon 
procedures on preliminary announcement of annual results, which are 
not significant, are covered within audit services fee for the annual 
audit for FY2023.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR 
RELATIONS

General Meeting

As one of the measures to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests 
and rights, separate resolutions will be proposed at Shareholders’ 
meeting on each substantial issue including the re-election of 
individual directors. All resolutions put forward at the Shareholders’ 
meeting will be conducted by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules 
and the poll voting results will be published on the Stock Exchange’s 
website (www.hkexnews.com) and the Company’s website 
(www.wingfunggroup.com). During the Relevant Period, an AGM of 
the Company was held on 6 June 2024 (the “2024 AGM”) to seek 
the Shareholders’ approval on, among other things, the granting the 
general mandates to issue and repurchase the Company’s shares and 
re-election of the Directors. The Board member’s attendance record 
is set out in page 23 to this annual report.

The forthcoming AGM is scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 20 May 
2025 and notice of the meeting will be sent to the Shareholders in 
accordance with the relevant requirements under the Articles.
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Procedures and Right for Shareholders to Convene 
Extraordinary General Meeting

The fol lowing procedures for shareholders to convene an 
extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) are subject to the 
Articles, and the applicable legislation and regulation, in particular 
the GEM Listing Rules:

1. If any one or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of 
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid 
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at the 
general meetings of the Company, such Shareholder(s) may 
submit a written requisition to the Board or the secretary of 
the Company to require an extraordinary general meeting 
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business 
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held 
within three (3) months after the deposit of such requisition.

2. The Board should within 21 days from the date of the deposit 
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM to be 
held within a further 21 days. If the Board fails to do so, 
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the 
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the 
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be 
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders may also make reference to Article 12 of the Articles.

Shareholders who have enquiries regarding the above procedures 
may write to the company secretary of the Company at Unit D, 
21/F., Tower B, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, 
Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election 
as a Director of the Company

If a Shareholder, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at 
the general meeting convened to deal with the appointment or 
election of Director(s), wishes to propose a person for election as 
a Director at that meeting, he/she may lodge a written notice at 
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit D, 
21/F., Tower B, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, 
Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the company secretary of 
the Company. Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a 
person for election as a Director of the Company can be found on 
the Company’s website (www.wingfunggroup.com).

Procedure for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ 
Meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to make proposals 
or move resolutions at Shareholders’ meeting under the Articles or 
the laws of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to make 
proposals or move a resolution may, however, convene an EGM in 
accordance with the “Procedures and Rights for Shareholders to 
Convene Extraordinary General Meeting” set out above.

Investors Relations

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an ongoing 
dialogue with the Shareholders through various channels 
including general meetings and corporate communications such as 
announcements, interim and annual reports and circulars. Latest 
information of the Group is also available on the Company’s website.

The Company has adopted its Shareholders’ communications 
policy. Enquiries and proposals from Shareholders, investors and all 
stakeholders are welcomed. Enquires to the Board or the Company 
may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place of business in 
Hong Kong at Unit D, 21/F., Tower B, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong 
Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Such written enquires 
or proposal with full name, contact details and identification must 
deposit and send to said address.

Any enquires in relation to the Company’s shareholdings, share 
transfer or registration may contact the Company’s share registrar. 
Their contact details are set out in the section headed “Corporate 
Information” of this annual report.
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(i)

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

(v)

(vi)

51.50%

The Company has established a range of communication channels 
between Itself and Its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders. 
These include (i) the publication of interim and annual reports and/
or dispatching circulars, notices, and other announcements; (ii) the 
annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting providing 
a forum for Shareholders to raise comments and exchanging views 
with the Board; (iii) updated and key information of the Group 
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s 
website; (iv) the Company’s website offering communication channel 
between the Company and its stakeholders; (v) the Company’s share 
registrar in Hong Kong serving the Shareholders in respect of all 
share registration matters; and (vi) attending meetings with analysts, 
which led by our executive Directors with existing and potential 
investors.

The Company held its 2024 AGM on 6 June 2024, which was 
attended by shareholders, including their proxies or representatives, 
and shares voted represent 51.50% of the total issued shares of the 
Company. All resolutions proposed at the 2024 AGM were passed.

Having considered the multiple channels of communication and 
shareholders engagement in the general meeting held during the 
year, the Board is satisfied that the shareholders communication 
policy has been properly implemented during 2024 and is effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted the th i rd amended and res tated 
memorandum and articles of Association on 6 June 2024. Save as 
disclosed, there had been no change to the Company’s constitutional 
documents during the Relevant Period. The latest version of the 
memorandum and articles of association of the Company is available 
at the Company’s website and the website of the Stock Exchange.
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GEM C2

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited (the “Company”, together with 
its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “We”), hereby presents this 
Environment, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (the “Report”) 
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report includes the business 
operations of the Group in both Hong Kong and Macau during the 
Relevant Period, relating to the overall performance, risks, strategies, 
measures and commitments in four aspects: quality of the working 
environment, environmental protection, operating practices and 
community participation.

REPORTING STANDARD

The Report complies with the disclosure requirements set out in 
the ESG Reporting Guide as described in Appendix C2 of the GEM 
Listing Rules. An assessment of the applicability and materiality of 
the relevant key performance indicators (“KPIs”) under the ESG 
Reporting Guide was conducted.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Group has app l ied the pr inc ip les  o f  “Mater ia l i t y”, 
“Quantitative”, “Balance” and “Consistency” in accordance with 
the ESG Reporting Guide in the preparation of this Report. Details of 
application of these reporting principles are illustrated below:

Materiality

Important and relevant information to stakeholders on different 
ESG aspects is covered in the Report. A materiality assessment was 
conducted to determine material ESG issues with results approved by 
the Board.

Quantitative

The relevant standards, methodologies and assumptions used to 
prepare the quantitative information is disclosed, as appropriate. 
Quantitative information is provided with narrative and comparative 
figures, where possible.

Consistency

Consistent methodologies are used to prepare and present ESG data 
in the Report, unless otherwise specified, to allow for meaningful 
comparisons.
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http://wingfunggroup.com/contact 

Balance

The information is presented without the inappropriate use of 
selections, omissions or other forms of manipulation that would 
influence a decision or judgment by the reader.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy 
and reporting. It is responsible for evaluating and determining 
the Group’s ESG-related risks and ensuring that appropriate and 
effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in 
place. The management is responsible for effectively coordinating 
the application of the Group’s environment, employment, and 
service quality assurance policies.

The Board leads and provides direction to management by instituting 
ESG policies and initiatives, supervising their implementation and 
monitoring ESG performance. The Board regularly reviews ESG 
affairs, including environmental protection, employment and labour 
practices, operating practices, and community investment, and 
implements appropriate measures to enhance the ESG performance 
of the Group. The Board continues to explore ways to further 
strengthen the ESG governance of the Group.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

As the Group strives for excellence, stakeholders’ feedback is 
appreciated, especially on topics listed as the highest importance in 
the materiality assessment and its ESG approach and performance. 
Please give your suggestions or share your views with us at 
http://wingfunggroup.com/contact.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group recognises the expectation and feedback from our 
stakeholders are vital for sustainable development of the Group. The 
Group values the intelligence gained from the stakeholders’ insights, 
inquiries and continuous interest in the Group’s business activities. 
Stakeholder engagement is the process by which an organisation 
involves parties who may be affected by the decision it makes or can 
influence the implementation of its decisions. Therefore, the Group 
pays close attention to stakeholders’ demands and has established 
communication channels to collect and respond to stakeholders’ 
concerns.

The management had performed the following:

• generated a full and complete list of stakeholders by consulting 
various departments within the Group;

• relied on the on-going communication channels and day-to-
day interactions and dedicated meetings (whenever deemed 
necessary) to engage these stakeholders; and

• reduced the list of stakeholders to a workable size and 
completed the Stakeholder Influence  Dependency Matrix to 
identify a list of key stakeholders.

The stakeholder’s expectation and concerns have been taken into 
consideration by utilising diversified communication channels as 
shown below:

   
Stakeholders Expectation and Concerns Communication Channels

   

Government/Regulatory 
 Authorisation

• Compliance with local laws and 
regulation

• Fulfilment of tax obligations

• Announcement and other regulatory 
reports

• 
• 

• 

Shareholders/investors • Return on investments
• Corporate governance
• Sustainable development
• Compliance with laws and 

regulations

• Information disclosed on the HKEX’s 
website and corporate website

• Annual general meeting and other 
shareholders’ meetings

• 
• 
• 
• 

• 

• 
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Stakeholders Expectation and Concerns Communication Channels

   

Employees • Employees’ compensation and 
benefits

• Career development
• Occupational safety and health

• Employee performance evaluation
• On-the-job training
• Internal e-mail
• Regular meetings

• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 
• 

Suppliers • Fulfilment of promises
• Credit worthiness

• Supplier selection assessment
• Suppliers’ performance assessment
• Supplier meetings
• Site visits

• 
• 

• 
• 
• 
• 

Customers • High-quality products and services
• Protection of customer rights and 

personal data

• Corporate website
• Emails and phone communications

• 
• 

• 
• 

Community/Public • Compliance with laws and 
regulations

• Involvement in communities
• Environmental protection awareness

• Industry events
• Corporate social responsibility 

activities

• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Relevant Period, the Group has evaluated a number 
of environmental, social and operating items and assessed their 
importance to stakeholders and the Group through various channels. 
This assessment helps ensure that the Group’s business objectives 
and development direction align with stakeholders’ expectations 
and requirements. In 2024, there were no material updates on the 
Company’s material issues as compared with those of 2023. The 
matters of concern for both the Group and stakeholders are listed in 
the following materiality matrix:

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13
14

15
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20
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Materiality to the development of the Group
對本集團發展的重要性

Not relevant
不相關

N
o

t 
re

le
va

n
t

不
相
關

Crucial
至關重要

C
ru

ci
al

至
關
重
要

Materiality on ESG Issues
環境、社會及管治議題的重要性

Twenty-one ESG issues were identified where they mattered the 
most to the Group’s businesses and stakeholders. The relevance/
importance of each of the ESG issues was assessed and scored 
according to their views on a scale of 0 to 10 (0 is irrelevant and 10 
is crucial). The ESG issues that fall within the top right-hand quadrant 
are of the greatest importance.

21

0 10 0 10
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1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 
5. 
6. 
7. 

8. 
9. 
10. 
11. 

12. 
13. 
14. 

15. 
16. 
17. 
18. 

19. 
20. 

21. 

Aspects Major concerns

Environment 1. Air emission
2. Greenhouse gas emission
3. Wastes production
4. Natural resources consumption
5. Use of packaging materials
6. Impact to the environment
7. Climate change

Employment 8. Labour practices
9. Employee remuneration and benefits
10. Occupational safety and health
11. Employee development and training

Supply Chain 
 Management

12. Green procurement
13. Engagement with suppliers
14. Environmental and social risk management of 

supply chain

Product 
 Responsibility

15. Product/service quality and safety
16. Customer privacy and data security
17. Marketing and promotion
18. Intellectual property rights

Anti-corruption 19. Business ethics & anti-corruption
20. Internal grievance mechanism

Community 21. Participation in philanthropy

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group does not have any factory operations nor engage in any 
activities that have a substantial effect on the environment, aside 
from the consumption of resources by the office administrative 
operations. Nevertheless, the Group pays due consideration and 
effort towards compliance with applicable laws and regulations 
in Hong Kong and Macau, and actively cooperates with the 
main contractor to meet environmental protection requirements. 
The majority of the Group’s work is conducted through its 
subcontractors. As part of project delivery, the project team 
confirms construction quality and also monitors the environmental 
performance of its subcontractors. One of the measures includes 
regular checks to ensure that environmental protection requirements 
imposed on various parties, including the main contractor, the 
construction site, and the Group, are met.
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Emissions

As a subcontractor for the provision of supply, installation and 
fitting-out services of MVAC systems for buildings in Hong Kong 
and Macau, the installation activity does not cause any material 
emissions or pollution generated from the Company’s operations at 
construction sites.

In order to minimise the production of air pollutants from motor 
vehicles, the Group promotes the use of public transport and 
carpooling.

  
Air emissions Unit 2024 2023

    

Nitrogen oxides g 1,168 947

Sulphur oxides g 15 14

Respiratory suspended particles g 86 70

    

  
Greenhouse gas emissions Unit 2024 2023

    

Scope 1 – petrol consumption Tonne 2.8 2.3
1

Scope 2 – electricity consumption Tonne 9.5 13.2
2

Total emissions Tonne 12.3 15.5

Emission intensity Tonne per million dollars of revenue 0.07 0.14

    

Hazardous and non-hazardous waste

The major source of waste comes from construction works, whereby 
the Group abides by the regulations imposed by the main contractor 
and the respective site. The staff and work team follow on-site 
regulations on waste disposal and always inquire with the project 
management team when encountering any difficulties.

Although the operation does not involve handling hazardous waste 
directly, we establish policies and guidelines for both our staff and 
subcontractors. For example, hazardous waste is stored separately 
in special containers before being collected by a licensed chemical 
waste collector.
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359

Waste production is mainly attributed to the discarded packaging 
materials and domestic office waste. The Group’s operation does not 
involve the production of hazardous waste. All materials and waste 
disposed of at the worksites are collected by authorised collectors 
appointed by the local government. During the Relevant Period, the 
Group did not notice any non-compliance issues regarding waste 
disposal.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The project team also ensures compliance with the applicable 
provisions of the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 359 of the 
Laws of Hong Kong) and its subsidiary regulations, particularly the 
Waste Disposal (Charges for Disposal of Construction Waste) and 
the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulations. During 
the Relevant Period, the Group strictly abided by the laws and 
regulations mentioned above.

Use of resources

Driven by the belief in maintaining sustainability, the Group strives to 
ensure the efficient use of resources, including energy, materials and 
auxiliary materials. It is the Group’s policy that materials ordered are 
‘just right’ for the intended project, and the Group endeavours to 
use excess materials to reduce wastage.

  

Resources utilisation Unit Consumption
Intensity (per million 
dollars of revenue)

    
2024 2023 2024 2023

      

Electricity kWh 24,385 21,641 138 189

Unleaded petrol L 1,042 845 6 7
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The Group has implemented the following schemes to reduce the 
consumption of energy and natural resources:

• encourage duplex printing and reuse single-side printed paper;

• switch off idle electrical appliances;

• perform regular maintenance and repair on electrical 
appliances to lower energy waste;

• reduce the use of disposable and non-recyclable products; and

• conduct regular maintenance and inspection of company 
vehicles.

Packaging materials

As the operation of the Group does not produce any tangible 
products that require packaging during the Relevant Period, hence 
no packaging materials were used in this regard.

Water

During the Relevant Period, our offices in both Hong Kong and 
Macau lacked individual water supply systems (e.g. tap and toilet 
facilities), resulting in the unavailability of information regarding 
water consumption.

There were no issues encountered in sourcing water that met the 
required standards and purposes.

Environmental and natural resources

There are several environmental concerns that are particularly 
relevant, affecting the materials and services used by the Group. For 
instance, air conditioning, refrigeration and heat pump technologies 
are increasingly shifting towards more environmentally friendly 
refrigerant gases with lower ozone depletion potential and lower 
global warming potential. The Group is determined to stay abreast 
of developments in resources and technologies that benefit the 
environment, especially with the higher requirements imposed on 
MVAC equipment and the installation process.
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VOC
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• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

0.1

In delivering the works, the project team ensures that all services 
are conducted in an environmentally responsible manner and strictly 
adhere to applicable laws in Hong Kong and Macau, such as the 
Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 40 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Several other specific regulations directly related to the operations, 
including the requirement of using lead-free solders for copper 
pipes in freshwater Inside Services, are specified in the standards 
as stipulated in the Waterworks Regulations. Another regulation 
that the Group complies with is the VOC regulation imposed by 
the Environmental Protection Department. VOCs (volatile organic 
compounds) are found in a wide variety of everyday products such 
as solvent-based paints/coatings, adhesives, sealants, printing inks, 
many consumer products, organic solvents and petroleum products.

Climate Change

Action on climate change is embedded in the Group’s business 
strategy and reflected in its governance and management processes. 
The table below outlines where to find the core elements of how the 
Group responds to the climate change disclosure requirements in 
this Report.

Core element Our response

Governance • Set up ESG Working Group and regular 
meeting

• Integrate ESG topics (including climate 
related issues) in corporate decision 
making

Strategy • Understand climate risks and identify 
risk and opportunities in low-carbon 
transition

Risk Management • Prepare for the transition to a low 
carbon economy

• Establish measures to address physical 
climate risks

Targets • Maintain the GHG emission intensity at 
below 0.1 tonne per million of revenue 
for the next 5 years
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5 201
167

SOCIAL

Employment

The Group promotes equal opportunity and opposes any form of 
discrimination in the hiring process. Personal attributes such as race, 
religion, nationality, age, or gender are not considered in the hiring 
process. In addition to discrimination, any act of sexual harassment 
is strictly prohibited. As of 31 December 2024, the Group had 
5 directors and 201 employees, including 167 labour workers 
nominated by subcontractors.

   
No. of staff

   

Gender
Male 182
Female 24

Age Group
18-40 18 40 88
41-60 41 60 100
61 or above 61 18

Geographical region
Hong Kong 197
Macau 9

Employment type
Full-time 204
Part-time 2
   

The Group welcomes individuals of all age ranges to join, as long as 
they are eager to learn and participate. While the Group considers 
all applications regardless of gender, the majority of successful 
applicants are typically male due to the labour-intensive nature of 
most operations at construction sites.
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2%

The Group aims to maintain an acceptable level of employee 
turnover to facilitate the accumulation of professional skills and 
experience. In the year 2024, the permanent staff turnover rate 
was approximately 2%, categorised by gender, age group, and 
geographical location as follows:

    
Gender Age Group Geographical region

Male Female 18-40 41-60 61 or above Hong Kong Macau
18 40 41 60 61

   

3% – 5% 1% – 1% 33%
       

Compensation and dismissal

The Group offers competitive remuneration to attract and retain 
talented staff members. Remuneration packages are reviewed 
periodically to ensure consistency with the employment market. 
Laws and regulations on minimum wage and statutory social 
benefits are required to be followed. Dismissal is required to comply 
with employment laws and regulations, as well as internal policies 
and procedures, including policies preventing dismissal based solely 
on employees’ gender, marital status, pregnancy, disability, age, or 
family status.

Recruitment and promotion

The Group attracts talent through fair, flexible and transparent 
recruitment strategy. The recruitment process includes the application 
submission, position description, collection of job applications, 
interviews, selection, approval, and job offers. Promotion is based on 
performance and suitability.

Working hours, rest periods, benefits and welfare

Employees’ working hours, rest periods, benefits, and welfare, 
including social security benefits, mandatory provident fund and 
labour pension, are required to comply with employment or labour 
laws and regulations. Selected benefit programs, including medical 
coverage, are also provided.
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Equal opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination

The Group is an equal opportunity employer. The Group endeavours 
to provide a fair workplace for employees and follow the principles 
of equality and non-discrimination. Recruitment, remuneration, 
promotion, and benefits are required to be handled based on 
objective assessment, equal opportunity and non-discrimination 
regardless of gender, race, age, or other measures of diversity.

Compliance with laws and regulations

During the Relevant Period, the Group strictly abided by laws and 
regulations related to employment, including but not limited to the 
following:

Hong Kong • Employment Ordinance
• Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
• Minimum Wage Ordinance
• Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
• Sex Discrimination Ordinance
• Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
• Race Discrimination Ordinance
• Disability Discrimination Ordinance
• Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child 

Labour
Macau • Labour Relations Law

Health and safety

The Group is committed to strict compliance with all relevant health 
and safety legislation. Although the works carried out by the Group 
and its subcontractors do not involve heavy machinery or manual 
handling of hazardous materials, the staff teams are exposed to 
relatively higher health and safety risks. The project management 
team is committed to conducting ongoing risk assessments to 
identify and manage these risks, with the objective of achieving the 
goal of zero accidents.
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In most cases, the main contractor or the management of the 
construction site would have already developed and deployed sets 
of site safety plans and instructions to the staff teams, requiring 
compliance by all subcontractors. The Group’s management works 
to ensure that subcontractors strictly observe these safety plans 
and directives. Safety instructions for different operations are 
well-communicated to the employees.

In accordance with the safety requirements of the Labour 
Department and the main contractor, we provide the site staff 
with qualified safety equipment, including safety helmets, goggles, 
and other necessary safety precautions to ensure the occupational 
safety of the staff. Personal protective equipment specific to the 
type of work being performed is made available and distributed. 
The site foremen are responsible for ensuring the proper use and 
maintenance of the equipment. The Group extends considerations 
and assessments to subcontractors, and the project team maintains 
close communication to provide the staff and subcontractors with 
the latest safety information.

Safety is given the highest priority by the Group. The Group will 
regularly conduct safety trainings to the employees to promote 
strong safety awareness. Additionally, investigations are carried out 
after every incident, and recommendations or corrective actions are 
taken if necessary. Management will continue to maintain constant 
communication with field operations. Going forward, the Group 
will reinforce efforts to strive towards the ultimate objective of zero 
accidents and a zero-injury rate during operations.

   
Occupational health and 
safety statistics

2024 2023 2022

     

Number of lost days due to work injury
 620 271 214

Number of work-related fatal accidents
 – – –

Number of work injuries accidents 3 2 5
Accident rate per 1,000 workers 
 (Hong Kong)

1,000
 ( ) 15 10 13

Accident rate per 1,000 workers 
 (Macau)

1,000
 ( ) – – 29
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Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group was not subject to any material administrative penalties 
or fines for any breach of laws or regulations relating to the provision 
of a safe working environment or the protection of employees 
against occupational hazards during the Relevant Period.

Hong Kong • Employment Ordinance
• Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance

Macau • Occupational Safety and Health Law for 
Construction Industry

Development and training

The Group is devoted to creating a learning culture among the 
teams to enable staff to develop their careers and reach their goals. 
Therefore, the Group organises teams to attend external training, 
such as the BIM induction course, from time to time. Training is also 
provided to management to maintain and enhance their technical 
knowledge and professional skills. Training for labours and staff 
at construction sites mainly includes safety precautions in the 
construction industry and case studies of previous accidents.

The Group places great importance on the quality of our construction 
management and safety concerns. As of 31 December 2024, a total 
of 206 employees have received training. The details are as follows:

    
Percentage 

of Employees 
Receiving 

Training

Average 
Training 

Hours

    

Gender
 Male  88% 2.2
 Female  12% 2.9
Job position
 Senior management  3% 17.0
 Middle Management  – –

 General staff and labour  97% 1.9
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Labour standards

The Group strictly prohibits the use of forced and child labour. The 
Group complies with relevant regulations and laws to safeguard the 
rights of our employees, and will not tolerate labour exploitation. 
During the recruitment process, we verify the age of applicants and 
the practice is extended to the workers hired by our subcontractors. 
The Group prevents hir ing chi ld labour by conducting an 
identification check of every new employee.

Without exception, during the Relevant Period, the Group complied 
the relevant laws and regulations regarding child labour and forced 
labour, including but not limited to the following.

Hong Kong • Employment Ordinance
• Minimum Wage Ordinance
• Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child 

Labour

Macau • Labour Relations Law

Supply chain management

The materials used by the Group mainly consist of materials and 
parts for the MVAC systems. To fulfil the Group’s responsibility to 
society, guidelines regarding environmental protection have been 
established and are regularly reviewed by the management. All 
work and materials used by subcontractors have to comply with this 
policy. Additionally, the geographical region of the supplier is also 
considered to ensure the delivery of materials.

Supplier and Subcontractor Control and Monitoring

The performance of suppl iers and subcontractors on our 
approved list is continuously reviewed through site inspections 
and risk assessments. Subcontractors are assessed based on their 
performance, completion times, and services provided during the 
project retention period. Suppliers are also assessed based on 
delivery times, material quality, and after-sales services. Suppliers 
and subcontractors with unsatisfactory performance may be 
removed from the approved list. During the Relevant Period, no 
major complaints regarding the quality of materials used or the 
performance of work have been received.
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Supplier and Subcontractor Profile

As at 31 December 2024, we have a total of 248 suppliers and 101 
subcontractors. They are mainly from Hong Kong and Macau.

    

No. of suppliers
No. of 

subcontractors

    

Hong Kong 235 56
Macau 13 45    

Total 248 101
    

Product responsibility

Quality Management

The Group is responsible to the main contractor for the works it has 
completed and has not encountered any issues of product recall or 
quality concerns. The Group implements a series of quality control 
measures to ensure the quality of work:

• Trainings are provided to our project management teams and 
subcontracted workers to ensure their understanding of, and 
compliance with, our quality standards;

• Onsite inspections and rectifications are carried out at each 
construction site. Immediate measures would be taken to 
rectify any identified quality control issues. Upon rectification, 
we would conduct re-inspections to ensure such issues have 
been resolved; and

• We require subcontractors to fully comply with our quality 
control measures when performing work for our construction 
projects.

The Group did not receive any significant complaints regarding the 
services provided and did not recall any products due to safety and 
health reasons during the Relevant Period.
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Data privacy

In accordance with the regulations set out in the Group’s Code 
of Conduct, the Group takes all necessary steps to ensure the 
data of its employees, customers, subcontractors and suppliers is 
stored securely and kept confidential. All tender documents, service 
contracts, applicable licenses and employees’ personal data are 
carefully secured and archived.

The Group is strictly committed to complying with the Personal 
Data (Privacy) Ordinance and adheres to relevant regulations in 
the collection, disclosure, usage, retention and storage of data 
to ensure the integrity and safety of data. Customer information 
is only collected based on necessity. We regularly review our 
data management practices and provide relevant training to our 
employees.

Intellectual properties, marketing and labelling

The Company’s operations, primarily entailing the installation and 
fitting of our MVAC systems, are not heavily reliant upon marketing 
or advertising. To the Directors’ knowledge, there are no significant 
ramifications with respect to intellectual property, advertising and 
labelling. We shall continually observe the business climate to 
identify any noteworthy risks in this regard.

Anti-corruption

Any forms of bribery, forgery, misappropriation of materials 
(including intellectual property), extortion, fraud and money 
laundering are strictly prohibited. The Anti-corruption Policy is 
instituted to ensure all personnel strictly adhere to the Group’s “zero 
tolerance” policy regarding acts of corruption, bribery and extortion 
that may occur in the course of their daily duties. The Anti-Fraud 
Policy sets forth the expectations of each employee to remain vigilant 
and alert to any potential fraudulent activity in the performance of 
their duties. Additionally, the Staff Manual provides guidelines on 
appropriate behaviour regarding gifts, conflicts of interest and other 
matters to heighten the awareness of all personnel regarding the 
risk of fraud. Organisational training has been scheduled, focusing 
on fostering integrity and providing instruction on recognising and 
handling fraudulent acts for both directors and personnel.
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Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure

We encourage transparency and honesty and provide channels 
for reporting misconduct or malpractices. The Whistleblowing 
Policy safeguards those who report such activities from potential 
repercussions. Employees are strongly encouraged to promptly 
report any suspicious activity to their direct supervisor, senior 
management, or the Audit Committee while preserving anonymity. 
The Company shall take due care in responding to all reports of 
suspected cases of fraud and conduct thorough investigations 
with the utmost confidentiality. If required, corrective actions and 
disciplinary measures (including dismissal in certain instances) shall 
be imposed expeditiously. All suspicious transactions detected from 
the investigations shall be timely reported to the relevant authority 
by the responsible party.

Compliance with laws and regulations

For the Relevant Period, the Group and its personnel adhered 
to the relevant laws and regulations pertaining to unlawful and 
corruption practices as prescribed by the Penal Code of Macau and 
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong and had not been 
involved in any legal proceedings related to corruption activities.

Community investment

The Group strongly bel ieves in the concept of community 
cobuilding to help create a coherent and harmonious community 
and always considers giving back to society as a core responsibility 
of being corporate citizen. The Group intends to lead by example 
by demonstrating the importance of community investment and 
encouraging our staff to participate in community initiatives through 
charity events, volunteering and donations.
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49

Wing 
Fung Engineering Limited

313

Wing Fung Capital 
Limited

83,062,500
51.19%
571

Wing Fung Capital 
Limited

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. CHUNG Chi Keung ( ), aged 68, is our executive 
Director, the chairman of our Board and the chief executive officer 
of our Company. He is also the co-founder of our Group in 1996. 
He was appointed as director of the Company on 29 September 
2016. Mr. Chung is primarily responsible for formulating the overall 
business strategies and overseeing the business and operation of our 
Group. Mr. Chung is also a director of all members of our Group.

Mr. Chung has over 49 years of experience in the supply, installation 
and fitting-out of MVAC system. In March 1974, Mr. Chung 
joined Young’s Engineering Co., Ltd as an apprentice and received 
training at the Major Air-conditioning Service Department. Upon the 
completion of his apprenticeship, he continued to work in the same 
department until July 1980. In 1987, Mr. Chung co-founded Wing 
Fung Engineering Limited. In July 1996 and March 2007, Mr. Chung 
established Wing Fung Engineering (H.K.) Limited (“Wing Fung HK”) 
and Botop Engineering (Macau) Limited, respectively and has been 
managing the business and operation of the two companies in Hong 
Kong and Macau. From 2003 to 2006, Mr. Chung was a member of 
the senior management of Dickson Group Holdings Limited (currently 
known as Richly Field China Development Limited), a company listed 
on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 313), and 
was responsible for managing the operation of certain construction 
projects in Hong Kong.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Chung owns all the issued share 
capital of Wing Fung Capital Limited, the controlling Shareholder, 
which owns 83,062,500 shares of the Company, representing 
approximately 51.19% of all issued shares of the Company. 
Accordingly, Mr. Chung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares 
owned by Wing Fung Capital Limited under the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”).
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43
Teamlight Enterprises (HK) 

Ltd.

Wing Fung Engineering 
Limited

Ms. LAI Suk Fan ( ), aged 62, was appointed as our 
executive Director on 24 March 2017. She is primarily responsible for 
overseeing the administration and human resources functions of our 
Group.

Ms. Lai studied at Lee Wai Lee Technical Institute of the Vocational 
Training Council on a part-time basis and was awarded a certificate 
for accounting technicians in August 1998. In 1998, Ms. Lai 
obtained a certificate in Accounting–Third Level issued by the 
London Chamber of Commerce and Industry Examinations Board. 
Ms. Lai also joined a distance-learning programme and received a 
Higher Certificate in Business Management from the Hong Kong 
Management Association in June 2009.

Ms. Lai has over 43 years of experience in administration, accounting 
and human resources. Ms. Lai has worked as a junior clerk at 
Teamlight Enterprises (HK) Ltd. from June 1980 to March 1982, 
then she joined Shirtmaster Limited as a purchasing clerk from May 
1982 to February 1987. During June 1987 to July 1999, Ms. Lai has 
been working in Wing Fung Engineering Limited and Wing Fung HK 
and her last position was an administration officer when she left the 
companies in July 1999. From February 2001 to June 2011, Ms. Lai 
worked at Artsuc M&E Limited as the administration manager. In 
July 2011, Ms. Lai rejoined our Group as the administration manager 
of Wing Fung HK.
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145

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHOY Hiu Fai Eric ( ), aged 47, was appointed as 
our independent non-executive Director on 31 January 2018 and 
is mainly responsible for supervising and providing independent 
judgement to the Board.

Mr. Choy has more than 21 years of experience in accounting. Mr. 
Choy obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting 
and Finance from the University of Hong Kong in November 2000. 
Upon graduation, he joined Arthur Andersen & Co, an accounting 
firm, in September 2000. Mr. Choy then continued his career with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers as a senior associate in the assurance and 
business advisory services department in July 2002. In 2004, Mr. 
Choy joined Procon CPA Limited as a managing director and he 
is now the head of the company’s operation in Hong Kong and 
Shenzhen.

Mr. Choy has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants since February 2005. He was also admitted as a 
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 
the United States in June 2002. Mr. Choy has been a Certified Tax 
Adviser of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong since 30 September 
2010.

Mr. Choy was an independent non-executive Director of CCIAM 
Future Energy Limited (formerly known as The Hong Kong Building 
and Loan Agency Limited), a company currently listed on the Main 
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 145) from July 2016 to 
June 2023.
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Cinda (BVI) Limited

Apastron Capital Limited

Mr. LEI For ( ), aged 47, was appointed as our independent 
non-executive Director on 31 January 2018 and is mainly responsible 
for supervising and providing independent judgement to the Board.

Mr. Lei has more than 22 years of experience in investment banking, 
corporate finance and investment and management matters. Mr. Lei 
obtained his Bachelor of Social Science from the Chinese University 
of Hong Kong in November 2001. He started his career with L.P. 
Lammas Asia Limited from September 2001 to October 2002. After 
that, he worked in MasterLink Securities (Hong Kong) Corporation 
Limited as an executive from December 2002 to February 2005. In 
February 2005, Mr. Lei joined Haitong International Capital Limited 
(previously known as Taifook Capital Limited and Tai Fook Capital 
Limited) as an executive, and he left as a manager in May 2007. 
From June 2007 to October 2010, he was appointed as the senior 
manager and then the vice president of the corporate finance 
department in ABCI Securities Company Limited. Mr. Lei then carried 
on his career with Cinda (BVI) Limited as the corporate finance 
director of Cinda International Capital Limited from October 2010 
to April 2011. In April 2011 to December 2016, he joined CIMB 
Securities Limited as a director in investment banking. From 2017 
to 2019, he joined Apastron Capital Limited with his last position 
as managing director. Mr. Lei is currently the director of Hongsong 
Limited.
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College of Estate Management

26

Hongkong Land Limited

Mr. LAI Wai Ming ( ), aged 49, was appointed as our 
independent non-executive Director on 31 January 2018 and is 
mainly responsible for supervising and providing independent 
judgement to the Board.

Mr. Lai graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 
November 1997 and was awarded a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Building Technology and Management. Then he obtained a Master of 
Science in Real Estate from the University of Hong Kong in December 
1999. In February 2002, Mr. Lai further obtained a diploma in 
building surveying from the College of Estate Management in the 
United Kingdom, which is a long-distance programme. Mr. Lai was 
also certified as a registered professional engineer by the Engineer 
Registration Board in April 2006, and he was admitted as a member 
of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and the Chartered 
Institute of Building in December 2004 and May 2005, respectively.

Mr. Lai has over 26 years of experience in building service and 
engineering. Mr. Lai joined Gammon Construction Limited in July 
1998 and he was the assistant project manager when he left the 
company in November 2007. He then worked at Hongkong Land 
Limited, a property investment, management and development 
group listed in London, Bermuda and Singapore, from November 
2007 to July 2011 as an assistant project manager. In July 2011, Mr. 
Lai joined a property developer as a project manager in Hong Kong 
and he was a senior project manager when he left the company in 
August 2017. In February 2018, Mr. Lai has joined a construction 
company in Hong Kong as a project director.
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8392 GEM

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAW Pak Hin Edward ( ), aged 38, joined our Group 
and was appointed as the chief financial officer of our Group on 
12 September 2016, and as our Company Secretary on 14 February 
2017. Mr. Law is primarily responsible for overseeing the finance and 
accounting functions of our Group.

In July 2010, Mr. Law obtained a Bachelor of Commerce from the 
Australian National University in Australia. He was admitted as an 
associate of the CPA Australia in August 2010 and was further 
admitted as a full member in July 2013. Mr. Law has more than 
14 years of experience in accounting, finance and auditing. Before 
joining our Group, Mr. Law has joined BDO Limited as an associate 
in December 2010 and he was an assistant manager when he left 
BDO Limited in December 2014. Then he carried on his career with 
Ernst & Young in December 2014 and he was a senior accountant in 
the assurance department when he left the firm in August 2016. Mr. 
Law is currently the financial controller and company secretary of 
Satu Holdings Limited (stock code: 8392), a company listed on GEM 
of the Stock Exchange.
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The Directors hereby presented their report and audited consolidated 
financial statements for the Relevant Period.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an 
exempted company with limited liability on 29 September 2016 
under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as 
consolidated and revised) (the “Companies Law”) of the Cayman 
Islands.

The companies now compr is ing the Group underwent a 
reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) to rationalise the structure 
of the Group in preparation for the Listing. Pursuant to the 
Reorganisation, the Company became the holding company of 
the subsidiaries now comprising the Group. Further details of 
the Reorganisation are set out in the section headed “History, 
Development and Reorganisation” in the prospectus issued by the 
Company dated 12 February 2018 (the “Prospectus”). The Shares 
were listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 27 February 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The 
Group is principally engaged as a subcontractor for the provision 
of supply, installation and fitting-out services of MVAC systems for 
buildings in Hong Kong and Macau. The projects of the Group can 
generally be categorised into private sector projects and public sector 
projects. A list of the subsidiaries of the Company and details of their 
principal activities are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial 
statements. There were no significant changes to the Group’s 
principal activities during the year.

For discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 
5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws 
of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), including a fair review 
of business, its key relationship with employees, customers, suppliers
and subcontractors, an indication of likely future developments in 
the Group’s business and an analysis of the Group’s performance 
during the year using financial key performance indicators, can be 
found in sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” 
set out on pages 7 to 15 of this annual report and the discussion of 
its environmental policies and performance, can be found in section 
headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this 
annual report.

22
3

GEM

29

622
5

7 15
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The Group has established a set of risk management policies 
and measures. The Group’s risk management process starts with 
identifying the major risks associated with its business, industry and 
market in the ordinary course of business. The Board and senior 
management are responsible for identifying and analysing the risk 
associated with their respective function, preparing and measuring 
risk mitigation plans and reporting the status of risk management. 
Details of principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are set 
out on page 11 of this annual report.

For the Relevant Period, the Group had continued to engage an 
independent internal control consultant to review the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control system and directly report to the 
Audit Committee. For details, please refer to the paragraph headed 
“Internal Control and Risk Management” under the section headed 
“Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND 
REGULATIONS

For the Relevant Period, the Group’s operations were mainly carried 
out in Hong Kong and Macau. The Group shall accordingly comply 
with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and Macau and 
the respective places of incorporation of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. During the year and up to the date of this report, the 
Board was not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws 
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and 
operations of the Group.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Relevant Period by 
operating segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Relevant Period are set out in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 84 of this 
annual report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend of the 
Company for the Relevant Period to the Shareholders.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the 
Group for the last five years, as extracted from the consolidated 
financial statements, is set out on page 168 of this annual report.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the Relevant Period in the plant and 
equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated 
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Relevant Period in the share capital 
of the Company are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

On 21 January 2022, every four (4) issued and unissued existing 
shares of the Company of par value HK$0.01 each in the share 
capital of the Company were consolidated into one (1) consolidated 
share of par value HK$0.04 each in the share capital of the 
Company. The authorised share capital of the Company has become 
HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 25,000,000,000 consolidated shares 
of par value HK$0.04 each, of which 162,250,000 consolidated 
shares would be in issue which are fully paid or credited as fully paid.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserve available for 
distribution to the shareholders, calculated in accordance with the 
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands amounted to approximately 
HK$15,372,000.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group or 
existed during the Relevant Period.
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83,062,500 Wing Fung Capital 
L imited

Wing Fung Capital 
Limited

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(I) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short 
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions 
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the 
Shares, the underlying Shares or debentures of the Company 
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)), which were required 
to be notified the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant 
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including the 
interests or short positions which any such director or chief 
executive was taken or deemed to have under such provision 
of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, 
or which were required, pursuant to standard of dealings by 
Directors referred in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing 
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
were as follows:

     

Name of Director
Capacity/
Nature of Interest

Number of the 
Shares held/
interested in

Long/short 
position

Percentage of 
Shareholding

     

Mr. Chung Interest in controlled 
 corporation (Note)

83,062,500 Long position 51.19%

     

Note:

The 83,062,500 Shares are held by Wing Fung Capital Limited, which 
is an associated corporation of the Company and wholly-owned by 
Mr. Chung. Therefore, Mr. Chung is deemed to be interested in all the 
Shares held by Wing Fung Capital Limited for the purposes of the SFO. 
Mr. Chung is our executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer and the controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the 
Directors or chief executive of the Company had registered 
any interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying 
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) 
which were required to be notified to the Company and the 
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO (including interests or short positions which were taken or 
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which 
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing 
Rules.

(II) Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests 
and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and 
Debentures

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2024, the 
following persons/entities (other than the Directors and chief 
executive of the Company) had or were deemed to have taken 
an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares 
which were recorded in the register of interests required to 
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, 
or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of 
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the GEM Listing 
Rules.

     

Name of Shareholder
Capacity/
Nature of Interest

Number of the
 Shares held/
interested in

Long/short 
position

Percentage of 
Shareholding

     

Wing Fung Capital Limited Beneficial owner 83,062,500 Long position 51.19%
Wing Fung Capital Limited
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100.0%
99.8% 80.3% 70.2%

60.8%
48.3%

27.6%
13.4%

65.5%
73.5%

30.3%
33.1%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person, 
other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company 
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and 
Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, 
Underlying Shares or Debentures” above, had notified the 
Company of an interest or short position in the Shares, 
underlying Shares or debenture of the Company that was 
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by 
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or which 
would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries or any of its associated corporation a party to any 
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means 
of the acquisition of the Shares in, or debentures of, the Company 
or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors, or their 
spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe 
for the Shares in, or debentures of, the Company, or had exercised 
any such rights.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND 
SUBCONTRACTORS

During the Relevant Period, so far as the Company is aware, the 
aggregate revenue attributable to our five largest customers and 
the largest customer accounted for approximately 100.0% (2023: 
99.8%) and 80.3% (2023: 70.2%), respectively, of the Group’s 
total revenue for the Relevant Period. Our Directors consider our 
Group’s business model is sustainable as we have been actively 
tendering for projects and securing awards of contracts placed by 
various main contractors. Purchases from the Group’s five largest 
suppliers accounted for approximately 60.8% (2023: 48.3%) of 
the Group’s total costs of materials for the Relevant Period and the 
purchase from the largest supplier included therein amounted to 
approximately 27.6% (2023: 13.4%). Sub-contracting fees from 
the Group’s five largest subcontractors accounted for approximately 
65.5% (2023: 73.5%) of the Group’s total subcontractor costs for 
the Relevant Period and the sub-contracting fee from the largest 
sub-contractor included therein amounted to approximately 30.3% 
(2023: 33.1%).
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None of the Directors nor any of his/her close associates (as defined 
under the GEM Listing Rules) or shareholders (which, to the best 
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s 
issued share capital), had any interest in the Group’s five largest 
customers, suppliers and subcontractors during the Relevant Period.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF 
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to 
the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the 
Company’s securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Relevant Period and up to the date of this 
report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chung Chi Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Lai Suk Fan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Choy Hiu Fai Eric
Mr. Lei For
Mr. Lai Wai Ming

Further information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out in 
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

An annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the 
requirements under Rule 5.09 the GEM Listing Rules has been 
received from each of the INEDs.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND 
CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Updated biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 57 
to 61 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement 
with Company for a term of three years from 27 February 2018, 
being the date on which the Shares are listed on GEM, subject 
to further renewal, and will continue thereafter unless and until 
terminated by the Company or Director or the Director has not 
been re-elected as a director of the Company or has been removed 
by shareholders of the Company at any of its general meeting or is 
disqualified from acting as a director of the Company in accordance 
with the articles of association of the Company. Each INED was 
appointed under a letter of appointment for a term of three years, 
subject to further renewal and unless terminated by the Company 
or the INED in accordance with the terms as set out in the letter of 
appointment. All Directors are also subject to retirement by rotation 
at least once every three years pursuant to the requirements of the 
Articles and the applicable Listing Rules. The service agreement of 
each executive Director and the letter of appointment of each INED 
have been renewed for another term of 3 years commencing from 
27 February 2024 on the same terms and conditions.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM has or is proposed to have any 
service contracts or letters of appointment with the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one 
year without payment of compensation, other than the statutory 
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT AND RE-ELECTION

Pursuant to Article 16.17 of the Articles, at every annual general 
meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being (or if their 
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest 
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation 
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation 
at least once every three years. Any Director appointed pursuant 
to Article 16.2 or Article 16.3 shall not be taken into account in 
determining which Directors are to retire by rotation. A retiring 
Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting at which he 
retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The Company at 
any annual general meeting at which any Directors retire may fill the 
vacated office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles, the Board shall have the 
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person 
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the 
Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the 
next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be 
eligible for re-election at that meeting. Further, according to Article 
16.3 of the Articles, the Company may from time to time in general 
meeting by ordinary resolution increase or reduce the number of 
Directors but so that the number of Directors shall not be less than 
two. Subject to the provisions of these Articles and the Companies 
Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company may by ordinary resolution 
elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or 
as an addition to the existing Directors. Any Director so appointed 
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the 
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 16.17 of the Articles, our executive 
Director, Mr. Chung and our independent non-executive Director, 
Mr. Lai, shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS, CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and elsewhere in this annual 
report, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance 
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the Director or an entity 
connected with the Director had a material interest, whether directly 
or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the Relevant Period.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS

During the Relevant Period, save as disclosed in this annual report, 
there were no contracts of significance between the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries and any controlling Shareholder or any of 
its subsidiaries or any contracts of significance for the provision of 
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling 
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND FIVE 
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of Directors and the five highest paid 
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the 
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s 
emolument policy and structure for making recommendation to the 
Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all 
Directors and senior management of the Group. The remunerations 
of the Directors are determined by reference to the Group’s 
operating results, comparable market statistics, the responsibilities 
and duties assumed by each Director as well as their individual 
performance.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong Kong 
which comply with the requirements under the Mandatory Provident 
Fund (“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance. All assets under the schemes are 
held separately from the Group under independently administrated 
funds. Contribution to the MPF scheme follow the MPF Schemes 
Ordinance.

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme in Macau which 
complies with the requirements under the Social Security Fund 
(“FSS”). All assets under the schemes are held separately from the 
Group under independently administrated funds. Contribution to the 
FSS scheme follows Law no. 4/2010 (Social Security System).

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group 
had no forfeited contributions under the retirement benefits scheme 
utilised to reduce future contributions.

Details of retirement benefits plans of the Group as at 31 December 
2024 are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements 
of this annual report.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of Directors 
nor the controlling shareholder of the Company nor any of their 
respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that 
compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any 
conflicts of interests which any such person has or may have with 
the Group during the Relevant Period.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company confirms that the non-competition undertaking given 
by, amongst other, Mr. Chung and Wing Fung Capital Limited, 
details of which were set out in the Prospectus, has been fully 
complied and enforced since the Listing and up to the date of this 
report. The Board also confirms that there are no other matters in 
relation to the aforesaid undertaking which should be brought to 
the attention of the Shareholders and the potential investors.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED 
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have purchased, 
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the 
Relevant Period (including sale or transfer of treasury share, if any). 

The Company did not hold any treasury shares as of 31 December 
2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Every Director shall be entitled under the Company’s Articles to 
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses 
or liabilities incurred or sustained by him or her as a Director in 
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which 
judgment is given in his or her favour, or in which he or she is 
acquitted. Such provision was in force since the adoption of the 
Articles upon the date of the Listing and remains in force as at the 
date of this report.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs 
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought 
against the Directors.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the Relevant 
Period are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements 
in this annual report. None of the related party transactions 
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or 
non-exempted continuing connected transaction as defined under 
the GEM Listing Rules during the Relevant Period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on the 
information that is publicly available to the Company, at least 25% 
of the Company’s issued capital was held by public as at the date of 
this report.

AUDITOR

On 29 October 2021, PwC resigned as the auditor of the Company. 
On the same date, the Board appointed Forvis Mazars to fill the 
casual vacancy resulting from the resignation of PwC and to hold 
office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of 
the Company. Further details can be found on the Company’s 
announcement published on 29 October 2021.

Save for the above, there were no other changes in the Company’s 
auditor in the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the Relevant Period have 
been audited by Forvis Mazars. Forvis Mazars shall retire at the 
forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Forvis Mazars 
as the auditor of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix 
their remuneration will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

During the Relevant Period and up to the date of this annual report, 
the Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of 
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in 
Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules expect for the code C.2.1. 
For further details regarding the compliance of the CG Code can be 
found in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on 
pages 16 to 37 of this annual report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the 
laws of the Cayman Islands which oblige the Company to offer new 
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning management and administration of the 
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were 
entered into or in existence during the Relevant Period.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Relevant Period, our Group did not make any charitable 
or other donations. (2023: Nil)

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events have taken place subsequent to 31 December 
2024 and up to the date of this report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to ascertain the entitlements to attend and vote at the 
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed 
from Wednesday, 14 May 2025 to Tuesday, 20 May 2025, both 
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of the shares of 
the Company will be registered. Shareholders of the Company 
are reminded to ensure all properly executed transfer forms 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with 
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor 
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre 16 Harcourt Road, 
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 pm on Tuesday, 13 May 2025.

On behalf of the Board
Wing Fung Group Asia Limited

CHUNG Chi Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025
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To the members of
Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wing Fung 
Group Asia Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together 
the “Group”) set out on pages 84 to 167, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2024, 
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting 
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the financial position of the Group at 31 December 
2024, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared 
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards 
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group 
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

84 167
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most s ignif icance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

 

Revenue recognition on construction contracts

Refer to Notes 2.18, 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial 
statements

2.18 4 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s 
revenue as recognised from construction contracts 
amounted to approximately HK$176.8 million.

 
176.8

Revenue on construction contracts is recognised over 
time by measuring the progress towards completion 
of the Group’s performance obligations as set out in 
respective contracts. The Group has used the output 
method to estimate the progress of each performance 
obligation satisfied over time by reference to the value 
of construction works completed to date (as certified by 
external surveyors or evaluated by internal project team) 
as a proportion of the total contract value of the relevant 
construction contracts. In addition, contract value may also 
be subject to changes due to variations of works, claims or 
disputes with customers.

 
 

We identified the revenue recognition on construction 
contracts as a key audit matter due to the significance 
of the amounts involved and the significant degree of 
management’s judgement on the estimation of the total 
outcome of construction contracts as well as the progress 
towards completion of construction work.

Our key procedures, among others, included:

a) obtaining an understanding of the Group’s control 
processes and key controls over revenue recognition 
on construction contracts;

 

b) enquiring the Group’s internal project team and 
check to the internal project team’s evaluation 
reports on the status of projects under construction 
as selected on a sample basis to evaluate the 
reasonableness of the progress towards completion 
of the selected projects and to identify if there are 
any variations of works, claims or disputes with 
customers which may vary the revenue recognition 
on the contracts;

 

c) agreeing the total contract value to the respective 
signed contracts, variation orders or correspondence 
with customers, on a sample basis;
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

 

d) verifying whether the value of work has been 
reasonably recognised as contract revenue by 
checking to the completion status specified in 
external surveyor’s reports and/or internal project 
team’s evaluation reports, on a sample basis, to the 
value of construction works as recognised by the 
Group; and

 

e) evaluating the competence, capabi l i t ies and 
objectivity of the external surveyors who issued 
surveyor’s reports for our selected samples of 
construction contracts.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets

Refer to Notes 2.10, 3.1, 4, 16 and 17 to the consolidated 
financial statements

2.10 3.1 4 16 17

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross trade receivables 
and contract assets amounted to approximately HK$29.7 
million and HK$72.5 million respectively and the provisions 
for impairment loss allowance on these trade receivables 
and contract assets amounted to approximately HK$2.2 
million and HK$9.6 million respectively.

 
29.7 72.5

2.2 9.6

Our key procedures, among others, included:

a) understanding the internal controls relating to credit 
control, debt collection and the ECL Assessment 
(including the assessment on the methodology of 
impairment and estimation of expected credit loss 
allowance);

b) evaluating the reasonableness of the historical credit 
loss rates as adopted by management in the ECL 
Assessment by checking, on a sample basis, the 
past settlement history and subsequent settlement 
information;
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

 

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to 
assess lifetime expected credit loss allowance for trade 
receivables and contract assets (the “ECL Assessment”). 
For the ECL Assessment, management grouped trade 
receivables and contract assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and estimated the expected credit losses 
allowance to be recognised by considering the aging 
profile of overdue balances, the repayment and default 
histories of different customers, the historical credit loss 
rates, the post-year end subsequent settlements from 
respective customers, on-going business relationship with 
the relevant customers and forward-looking information 
relevant to customers’ ability to repay the outstanding 
balances.

9

We identified the impairment assessment of trade 
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter due 
to the significance of the amounts involved and the use of 
judgement and estimates by the management in the ECL 
Assessment.

c) checking the aging profile of the trade receivables 
and contract assets at 31 December 2024 and 
the post year-end subsequent settlements from 
customers, on a sample basis, to underlying 
accounting records and supporting documents;

d) understanding the Group’s on-going business 
relationship with the relevant customers through 
discussion with management and corroborated the 
information as provided by management to the 
status of underlying projects, public information and 
correspondence with the relevant customers; and

 

e) understanding and evaluating the management’s 
process in identifying the relevant forward-looking 
information for the ECL Assessment.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the 2024 annual report of the Company but does not 
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE 
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for 
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors 
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process.
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• 

• 
 

• 
 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely 
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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• 

 

 

• 

•  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.
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P07321

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 20 March 2025

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent 
auditor’s report is:
Fong Chin Lung
Practising Certificate number: P07321
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Year ended 31 December 2024 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

  
2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue 5 176,764 114,570
Cost of sales 7 (157,881) (111,508)     

Gross profit 18,883 3,062
Other income, net 6 323 277
Reversal of (Provision for) impairment 

losses on trade receivables and 
contract assets, net 7 3,708 (12,224)

Write-off of contract assets 7 – (11,207)
Administrative expenses 7 (18,349) (18,364)     

Operating profit (loss) 4,565 (38,456)
Finance costs 8 (1,411) (1,803)     

Profit (Loss) before income tax 3,154 (40,259)
Income tax (expense) credit 11 (2,081) 4,354     

Profit (Loss) for the year 1,073 (35,905)

Other comprehensive income 
(expenses) for the year, net of tax

 
 

Item that may be reclassified to profit 
or loss:

 
 

– Exchange differences on  
 translation of a foreign  
 operation

  
   

2 (58)     

Total comprehensive income 
(expenses) for the year 1,075 (35,963)

     

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) 
per share for profit (loss) 
attributable to the ordinary 
equity holders of the Company

 
  
  
 

 (HK cents per share)  13 0.66 (22.13)
     

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should 
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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At 31 December 2024 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

  
2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 14 313 217
Right-of-use assets 15 170 1,023
Deferred income tax assets 23 8,815 10,697     

9,298 11,937     

Current assets
Contract assets 16 62,905 68,813
Trade and other receivables,  
 deposits and prepayments

 
 17 29,987 34,428

Current income tax assets – 199
Pledged and restricted bank deposits 18 7,352 9,408
Cash and cash equivalents 18 16,576 6,014     

116,820 118,862     

Total assets 126,118 130,799     

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 15 56 220     

56 220     

Current liabilities
Trade and retention payables  

 19 30,075 31,028
Other payables and accrued 

expenses
 

 20 3,976 5,727
Lease liabilities 15 108 826
Bank borrowings 21 25,165 27,335     

59,324 64,916     
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

  
2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Total liabilities 59,380 65,136     

Net assets 66,738 65,663
     

EQUITY
Share capital 22(i) 6,490 6,490
Reserves 60,248 59,173     

Total equity 66,738 65,663
     

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 167 were 
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 
20 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

    
Chung Chi Keung Lai Suk Fan

Director Director

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be 
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

       

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Exchange 
translation 

reserve
Capital 
reserve

Other 
reserve

Retained 
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 22(ii)(a)) (Note 22(ii)(b))
22(ii)(a))  22(ii)(b))

         

Balance at 1 January 2023  
 6,490 50,549 (817) 11,676 (12,941) 46,669 101,626         

Loss for the year – – – – – (35,905) (35,905)
Other comprehensive expenses
–  Item that may be reclassified to  

 profit or loss
 

  
   Exchange differences arising on  

 translation of a foreign operation
   
   – – (58) – – – (58)         

Total comprehensive expenses  
for the year – – (58) – – (35,905) (35,963)         

Balance at 31 December 2023  
 6,490 50,549 (875) 11,676 (12,941) 10,764 65,663

         

Balance at 1 January 2024  
 6,490 50,549 (875) 11,676 (12,941) 10,764 65,663

         

Profit for the year – – – – – 1,073 1,073
Other comprehensive income
–  Item that may be reclassified to  

 profit or loss
 

  
   Exchange differences arising on  

 translation of a foreign operation
   
   – – 2 – – – 2         

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 2 – – 1,073 1,075         

Balance at 31 December 2024  
 6,490 50,549 (873) 11,676 (12,941) 11,837 66,738

         

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be 
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

  
2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations and 

net cash from operating activities
 
  25(a) 12,624 7,616     

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Placement of pledged and restricted 

bank deposits
  
  (282) (172)

Release of pledged and restricted 
bank deposits

  
  2,338 –

Payments for plant and equipment  (221) –

Interest received  106 89     

Net cash from (used in) investing 
activities

 
 1,941 (83)     

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings  51,193 63,901
Repayments of bank borrowings  (50,236) (75,339)
Repayments of lease liabilities  25(c) (477) (834)
Interest paid  (1,359) (1,709)     

Net cash used in financing activities (879) (13,981)     

Net increase (decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents

 
 13,686 (6,448)

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the reporting period

  
  (3,961) 2,492

Effects of exchange rate changes on 
cash and cash equivalents

  
  3 (5)     

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the reporting period  
(net of overdrafts)

 
 

18 9,728 (3,961)
     

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited (the “Company”) was 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 29 September 2016 as 
an exempted company with limited liability under Companies 
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of 
the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered 
office is 71 Fort Street, PO Box 500, George Town, Grand 
Cayman KY1–1106, Cayman Islands. The principal place of 
business is Unit D, 21st Floor, Tower B, Billion Centre, 1 Wang 
Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its 
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in 
the provision of supply, installation and fitting-out services of 
mechanical ventilation and air-conditioning (“MVAC”) system 
for buildings. The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding 
company is Wing Fung Capital Limited, a private company 
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong 
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the functional currency of the 
Company.

The Company listed its shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited on 27 February 2018.

1. 

3 22

71 Fort Street, PO Box 500, George 
Town,  Grand Cayman KY1–1106, 
Cayman Islands

B 21
D

Wing Fung Capital Limited 

GEM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation 
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company 
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), 
which collective term includes all applicable HKFRSs, 
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and 
Interpretations issued by Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 
(the “CO”) (Cap. 622). The consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements 
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process 
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in 
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) New/revised HKFRSs applied by the Group

The accounting policies applied in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 are consistent 
with those applied in preparing the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 except for the adoption 
of new/revised HKFRSs as set out below. The 
Group has not early adopted any other standard, 
interpretation or amendment that has been issued 
but is not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of 
Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities 
with Covenants

Amendments to HK 
Interpretation 5

Presentation of 
Financial Statements 
– Classification 
by the Borrower 
of a Term Loan 
that Contains a 
Repayment on 
Demand Clause

Amendments to HKAS 7 
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance 
Arrangements

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale 
and Leaseback

2. 
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Year ended 31 December 2024 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) New/revised HKFRSs applied by the Group 
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1: Classification of Liabilities 
as Current or Non-current

The amendments aim to promote consistency in 
applying the requirements by helping companies 
determine whether, in the statement of financial 
position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain 
settlement date should be classified as current (due 
or potentially due to be settled within one year) or 
non-current. The amendments include clarifying 
the classification requirements for debt a company 
might settle by converting it into equity.

The adoption of the amendments does not have 
any significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1: Non-current Liabilities 
with Covenants

The amendments specify that covenants to be 
complied with after the reporting date do not 
affect the classification of debt as current or 
non-current at the reporting date. Instead, the 
amendments require a company to disclose 
information about these covenants in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements.

The adoption of amendments does not have any 
significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

2. 

2.1 

(a) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) New/revised HKFRSs applied by the Group 
(Continued)

Amendments to HK Interpretation 5: Presentation 
of Financial Statements – Classification by 
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a 
Repayment on Demand Clause

This Interpretation is revised as a consequence 
of the above Amendments to HKAS 1 to align 
the corresponding wordings with no change in 
conclusion.

The adoption of amendments on this Interpretation 
does not have any significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7: Supplier 
Finance Arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure 
requirements to enhance the transparency of 
supplier finance arrangements and their effects on 
an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to 
liquidity risk.

The adoption of the amendments does not have 
any significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale 
and Leaseback

The amendments require a sel ler-lessee to 
subsequently determine lease payments arising 
from a sale and leaseback in a way that it does 
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss 
that relates to the right of use it retains. The new 
requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee from 
recognising in profit or loss any gain or loss relating 
to the partial or full termination of a lease.

The adoption of the amendments does not have 
any significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

2. 
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Year ended 31 December 2024 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective 
and have not been early adopted by the 
Group

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated 
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the 
following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet 
effective for the current year, which the Group has 
not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the 
Classification and 
Measurement of 
Financial Instruments 2

Annual Improvements to 
HKFRSs

Volume 11 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing 
Nature-dependent 
Electricity 2

HKFRS 18 Presentation and 
Disclosure in Financial 
Statements 3

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without 
Public Accountability: 
Disclosures 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution 
of Assets between 
an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint 
Venture 4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2027

4 The effective date to be determined

The Directors of the Company do not anticipate 
that the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs in 
future periods will have any material impact on the 
Group’s financial position or performance.

2.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries and principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) 
over which the Group has control. The Group controls 
an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights 
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries 
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from 
the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised 
gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of 
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.3 Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each 
of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates (the “functional 
currency”). The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s 
functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions and from the translation of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at period end exchange rates are 
generally recognised in profit or loss.

2. 

2.2 

2.3 

(i) 

(ii) 
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Year ended 31 December 2024 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii) Transactions and balances (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to 
borrowings are presented in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, within 
finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and 
losses are presented in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income on a net basis within 
other income, net.

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign 
operations (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation currency 
are translated into the presentation currency as 
follows:

• assets and liabilities for each statement of 
financial position presented are translated at 
the closing rate at the date of that statement 
of financial position;

• income and expenses for each statement 
of comprehensive income are translated 
at average exchange rates (unless this is 
not a reasonable approximation of the 
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on 
the transaction dates, in which case income 
and expenses are translated at the dates of 
the transactions); and

• al l result ing exchange differences are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

2. 

2.3 

(ii) 

(iii) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.4 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less 
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of 
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for 
by the company on the basis of dividend received and 
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries 
is required upon receiving a dividend from these 
inves tments  i f  the d i v idend exceeds the to ta l 
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period 
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the 
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds 
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial 
statements of the investee’s net assets.

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision 
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments, 
has been identified as the controlling shareholder and 
executive director of the Group who make strategic 
decisions. Details refer to Note 5 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

2.6 Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of any component accounted for as a separate 
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the 
reporting period in which they are incurred.

2. 

2.4 

2.5 

5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6 Plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method 
to allocate their cost to their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives or, as follows:

Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years
Furniture and office equipment 5 years
Machinery 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 
2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are 
included in profit or loss.

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject 
to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, 
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are 
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and 
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial 
assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each 
reporting period.

2. 

2.6 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets to be 
measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business 
model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised costs are non-
de r i v a t i v e  f i nanc i a l  a s s e t s  w i th  f i x ed  o r 
determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. If collection of the amounts is 
expected in one year or less they are classified as 
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets. The Group’s financial assets at 
amortised cost comprise of trade receivables, other 
receivables and deposits, pledged and restricted 
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents.

(ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets 
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights 
to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or have been transferred and the 
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership.

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a 
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of 
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or 
loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction 
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through 
profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

2. 

2.8 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments 
depends  on the  Group’s  bus ines s  mode l 
for managing the asset and the cash f low 
characteristics of the asset. Assets that are held 
for collection of contractual cash flows where 
those cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest are measured at amortised 
cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is 
subsequently measured at amortised cost and is 
not part of a hedging relationship is recognised 
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised 
or impaired. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in other income using the 
effective interest method.

(iv) Impairment

The Group assess on a forward-looking basis 
the expected credit losses associated with its 
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The 
impairment methodology applied depends on 
whether there has been significant increase in 
credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the 
Group applied the simplified approach permitted 
under HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime 
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of 
the receivables.

For other receivables and deposits, it is measured at 
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime 
expected loss, depending on whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of 
a receivable has occurred since initial recognition, 
then impairment is measured as lifetime expected 
credit losses.

2.  

2.8 

(iii) 

(iv) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)

For cash and cash equivalents, pledged and 
restricted bank deposits, it is also subject to 
impairment requirements under HKFRS 9, yet the 
impairment loss is immaterial because the Group 
only transacts with reputable international financial 
institutions with high credit ratings assigned by 
international credit-rating agencies.

(v) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there 
is information indicating that the counterparty is 
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic 
prospect of recovery, for example, when the 
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or 
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the 
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are 
over three years past due, whichever occurs sooner. 
Financial assets written off may still be subject to 
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery 
procedures, taking into account legal advice where 
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition 
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in 
profit or loss.

2.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount is reported in the statement of financial position 
where the Group or group entities currently has a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.  

2.8 

(iv) 

9

(v) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for 
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course 
of business. They are generally due for settlement within 
30 days to 45 days and therefore all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount 
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain 
significant financing components. The Group holds the 
trade receivables with the objective of collecting the 
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them 
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
include cash on hand and deposits held at call with 
financial institutions with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities in the statement of financial position.

2.12 Pledged bank deposits

Pledged bank deposits represent the amounts of cash 
pledged as collateral to the banks for project bidding and 
issuing performance bonds.

Pledged bank deposits are separately presented from 
cash and cash equivalents.

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
share or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net 
of tax, from the proceeds.

2.  

2.10 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.14 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or 
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course 
of business from suppliers. Trade payables and other 
payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is 
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating 
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented 
as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

2.15 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of 
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are 
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent 
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the 
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence 
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for 
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the 
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the 
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liabilities for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period.

2.  

2.14 

2.15 

12



104

Year ended 31 December 2024 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.15 Borrowings and borrowing costs (Continued)

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of 
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset 
for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment 
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs 
eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 
which they are incurred.

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax 
payable on the current period’s taxable income based 
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction 
adjusted by changes in deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to 
unused tax losses.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on 
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the 
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries 
operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns 
with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes 
provisions where appropriate on the basis of 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

2. 

2.15 

2.16 

(i) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the 
liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. However, deferred income tax liabilities 
are not recognised if they arise from the initial 
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also 
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than 
a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted 
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting 
period and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if 
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and 
losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not 
recognised for temporary differences between the 
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in 
foreign operations where the company is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that the differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset 
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current income tax assets and liabilities and where 
the deferred income tax balances relate to the 
same taxation authority. Current income tax assets 
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has 
a legally enforceable right to offset and intends 
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

2. 

2.16 

(ii) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred income tax is recognised in 
profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, respectively.

2.17 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make 
good obligations are recognised when the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required to settle the obligation and the amount can 
be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for 
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a 
whole.

A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an 
outflow with respect to any one item included in the 
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the present obligation at the end of the 
reporting period. The discount rate used to determine 
the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision 
due to the passage of time is recognised as interest 
expense.

2. 

2.16 

(ii) 

2.17 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

A performance obligation represents a good or service 
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially 
the same. Control i s t ransferred over t ime and 
revenue is recognised over time by reference to the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant 
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is 
met:

• the customer s imultaneous ly rece ives and 
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 
performance as the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates and enhances 
an asset that the customer controls as the Group 
performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset 
with an alternative use to the Group and the 
Group has an enforceable right to payment for 
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when 
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or 
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to 
consideration in exchange for goods or services that 
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet 
unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the 
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only 
the passage of time is required before payment of that 
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation 
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which 
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of 
consideration is due) from the customer.

2. 

2.18 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the 
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net 
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement 
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a 
performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a 
performance obligation is measured based on output 
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis 
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or 
services transferred to the customer to date relative to 
the remaining goods or services promised under the 
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in 
transferring control of goods or services.

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing 
component (i.e. the customer or the Group is provided 
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of 
goods or services to the customer), in determining 
the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised 
consideration for the effects of the time value of money. 
The effect of the significant financing component is 
recognised as an interest income or interest expense 
separately from revenue from contracts with customers 
in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that i s 
commensurate with the rate that would be reflected in 
a separate financing transaction between the Group and 
its customer at contract inception by reference to, where 
appropriate, the interest rate implicit in the contract (i.e. 
the interest rate that discounts the cash selling price of 
the goods or services to the amount paid in advance or 
arrears), the prevailing market interest rates, the Group’s 
borrowing rates and other relevant creditworthiness 
information of the customer of the Group.

2. 

2.18 
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Transaction price: significant financing components 
(Continued)

The Group has applied the practical expedient in 
paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the 
consideration for the effect of the significant financing 
component if the period of financing is one year or less.

Variable consideration

If the consideration promised in a contract includes a 
variable amount, the Group estimates the amount of 
consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange 
for transferring the promised goods or services to a 
customer. The variable consideration is estimated by 
using either the expected-value or the most-likely-
amount method whichever is better to predict the 
entitled amount. The estimated variable consideration is 
then included in the transaction price only to the extent 
that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in 
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised of the 
contract will not occur when the uncertainty associated 
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 

2.19 Employee benefits

(a) Pension schemes

Payments to defined contribution retirement 
benefit plans and the Mandatory Provident Fund 
Scheme are recognised as an expense when 
employees have rendered service entitling them to 
the contributions.

2. 

2.18 

15 63

2.19 

(a) 
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at 
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected 
to be paid as and when employees rendered 
the service. All short term employee benefits are 
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS 
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit 
in the cost of an asset. A liability is recognised in 
respect for benefits accruing to employees (such 
as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) 
after deducting any amount already paid.

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier 
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits and when the Group 
recognises restructuring costs involving the 
payment of termination.

(d) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense 
for bonuses based on a formula that takes into 
consideration the profit attr ibutable to the 
Company’s shareholder. The Group recognises 
a provis ion where contractual ly obl iged or 
where there is a past practice that has created a 
constructive obligation.

(e) Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long 
service payments (“LSP”) under the Employment 
Ordinance (the “EO”) is the amounts of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for 
their services in the current and prior periods. The 
obligation is calculated using the projected unit 
credit method and discounted to its present value 
and after deducting the fair value of any related 
assets, including those retirement scheme benefits.

2. 

2.19 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.20 Leases

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and 
corresponding liabilities at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease 
components. The Group allocates the consideration in 
the contract to the lease and non-lease components 
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for 
leases of property for which the Group is a lessee, it has 
elected not to separate lease and non-lease components 
and instead accounts for these as a single lease 
component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially 
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities 
include the net present value of the following lease 
payments:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed 
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payments that are based on an index 
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 
as at the commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group 
under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group 
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if 
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that 
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain 
extension options are also included in the measurement 
of the liabilities.

2. 

2.20 
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.20 Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the 
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, 
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to 
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset 
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar 
economic environment with similar terms, security and 
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

• where possible, uses recent third-party financing 
received by the individual lessee as a starting point, 
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions 
since third party financing was received;

• uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free 
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held 
by the Group, which does not have recent third 
party financing; and

• makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, 
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and 
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or 
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liabilities for each period.

2. 

2.20 
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.20 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the 
following:

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease 
liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives 
received;

• any initial direct costs; and

• restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the 
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a 
straight-line basis. Payments associated with short-term 
leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-
value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as 
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases 
with a lease term of 12 months or less.

2.21 Dividend distribution

Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders 
are recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements in the period in which the dividends 
are approved by the Company’s or operating companies’ 
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

2. 

2.20 

• 

 

• 

• 

12

2.21 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial 
risks: interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management 
approach focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects 
on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Market risk

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk 
relates primari ly to variable-rate bank 
balances and restricted bank deposits as 
disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated 
financial statements and bank borrowings 
as disclosed in Note 21 to the consolidated 
financial statements due to the fluctuation of 
the prevailing market interest rate. The Group 
is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk 
in relation to the Group’s fixed-rate pledged 
bank deposits as disclosed in Note 18 to 
the consolidated financial statements. The 
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly 
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest 
rates on bank balances and Hong Kong Prime 
Rate quoted by the lending bank arising from 
the Group’s HK$ denominated borrowings. 
The Group aims at keeping borrowings at 
variable rates. The Group currently does not 
have a policy on hedging interest rate risk. 
However, the management monitors interest 
rate exposure and will consider hedging 
significant interest rate risk should the need 
arise.

3. 

3.1 

(a) 

(i) 

18

21

18
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been 
determined based on the exposure to interest 
rates for variable-rate bank borrowings. The 
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of 
liability outstanding at each reporting period 
end was outstanding for the whole year. A 
100 basis points increase or decrease is used 
which represents management’s assessment 
of the reasonably possible change in interest 
rates. If interest rates had been 100 basis 
points (2023: 100 basis points) higher/lower 
and all other variables were held constant, 
the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 
December 2024 would decrease/increase by 
HK$252,000 (2023: loss for the year would 
increase/decrease by HK$273,000).

No sensitivity analysis has been prepared 
for the exposure to interest rate risk on the 
Group’s bank balances and restricted bank 
deposits as the directors of the Company 
consider that the exposure is minimal.

3. 

3.1 

(a) 

(i) 

100

100
100

252,000

273,000
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Currency risk

The Group’s exposure to currency risk mainly 
arises from the fluctuation of HK$ against 
the functional currency of a subsidiary of 
the Company that has adopted Macau 
Pataca (“MOP”) as functional currency 
and has foreign currency denominated 
monetary assets denominated in HK$. 
The management closely monitors foreign 
exchange exposure to mitigate the foreign 
currency risk. As MOP is pegged to HK$, the 
Group’s foreign currency risk exposure is not 
considered to be significant.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade 
receivables, contract assets, other receivables and 
deposits, pledged and restricted bank deposits, 
cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts 
of these balances except cash on hand in the 
consolidated statement of financial position 
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk in relation to its financial assets.

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged and 
restricted bank deposits

The majority of the Group’s bank balances 
are placed in financial institutions which are 
independently rated with high credit ratings. 
Management does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these financial institutions as they 
have no default history in the past.

3. 

3.1 

(a) 

(ii) 

(b) 
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3. 

3.1 

(b) 

9
12

9

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits

Other receivables and deposits are also subject to 
the impairment requirements under HKFRS 9. It 
is measured as either 12-month expected credit 
losses or lifetime expected credit loss, depending 
on whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant 
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred 
since initial recognition, impairment is measured as 
lifetime expected credit losses. The Group also take 
into account forward-looking information in the 
impairment of the other receivables and deposits. 
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the identified 
impairment loss for other receivables and deposits 
is assessed to be minimal.

Trade receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables and contract assets, the 
Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach 
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a 
lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all trade 
receivables and contract assets without financing 
components.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade 
receivables have been assessed based on credit 
risk characteristics of the customers with reference 
to a wide range of factors such as default rates 
of customers, aging profile of overdue balances, 
the repayment and default histories of different 
customers, on-going business relationship with 
the relevant customers and forward-looking 
information that affecting the customers’ ability to 
repay the outstanding balances. 
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3.1 

(b) 

41%
62%

100% 99%

1,762,000
2,000,000

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

At  31 December  2024,  the  Group had a 
concentration of credit risk as approximately 41% 
(2023: 62%) of the total trade receivables was 
due from the Group’s largest trade debtor and 
approximately 100% (2023: 99%) of the total 
trade receivables was due from the Group’s five 
largest trade debtors.

The Group has separated one customer (2023: 
two customers) with doubtful credit rating from 
the other customers with low risk credit rating in 
the determination of the expected credit losses 
and fully provided for the trade receivables of 
HK$1,762,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) for the 
prior year. For the remaining customers, the loss 
allowance at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were 
determined as follows for trade receivables:

       

Expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Net carrying 
amount

Credit-
impaired

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Trade receivables at 31 December 
2024

 
  
 

Not past due 1.03% 13,833 (144) 13,689 No 
Within 30 days overdue 30 1.16% 9,648 (112) 9,536 No 
30 days to one year overdue 30 1.75% 751 (13) 738 No 
Over one year overdue 3.97% 3,698 (147) 3,551 No        

Balances excluding one customer  
fully provided for

 
 27,930 (416) 27,514
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3.  

3.1 

(b) 

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

       

Expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Net carrying 
amount

Credit-
impaired

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Trade receivables at 31 
December 2023

 
  
 

Not past due 0.3% 16,928 (51) 16,877 No 
Within 30 days overdue 30 0.6% 710 (4) 706 No 
30 days to one year overdue 30 1.5% 11,081 (166) 10,915 No 
Over one year overdue 2.9% 3,701 (107) 3,594 No        

Balances excluding two customers 
fully provided for  

 32,420 (328) 32,092
       

The contract assets relate to unbilled work in 
progress and have substantially the same risk 
characteristics as the trade receivables for the 
same types of contracts. The Group has therefore 
concluded that the expected loss rates for trade 
receivables are a reasonable approximation of the 
loss rates for the contract assets. The expected 
credit losses below also incorporate forward-
looking information such as macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the 
receivables.
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3.  

3.1 

(b) 

7,882,000
11,652,000

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) 

The Group has separated four customers (2023: 
four customers) with doubtful credit rating from 
the other customers with low risk credit rating 
in the determination of the expected credit 
losses and fully provided for the contract assets 
of HK$7,882,000 (2023: HK$11,652,000) at 31 
December 2024. For the other customers, the loss 
allowance at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were 
determined as follows for contract assets.

    

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Weighted 
average 

expected 
loss rates

Loss 
allowance

Net carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Contract assets at 31 December 2024  
 

Balances excluding four customers fully provided for  
 64,617 2.65% (1,712) 62,905

      
    

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Weighted 
average 

expected 
loss rates

Loss 
allowance

Net carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Contract assets at 31 December 2023  
 

Balances excluding four customers fully provided for  
 70,311 2.13% (1,498) 68,813
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3. 

3.1 

(c) 

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management 
rests with the directors of the Company, who have 
built an appropriate liquidity risk management 
framework for the management of the Group’s 
short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity 
management requirements. The Group manages 
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and 
borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the 
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial 
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at the consolidated statement 
of financial position date to the contractual 
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table 
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

    

Total 
carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

On demand 
or less 

than 1 year

Between 
1 and 

2 years

1 1 2
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 31 December 2024
Trade and retention payables 30,075 30,075 24,249 5,826
Other payables 1,526 1,526 1,526 –
Bank borrowings 18,317 19,446 19,446 –
Lease liabilities 164 164 108 56
Bank overdrafts 6,848 6,848 6,848 –      

56,930 58,059 52,177 5,882
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3.1 

(c) 

1

26,294,000
29,034,000

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

    

Total 
carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

On demand 
or less 

than 1 year

Between 
1 and 

2 years

1 1 2
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 31 December 2023
Trade and retention payables 31,028 31,028 28,499 2,529
Other payables 1,730 1,730 1,730 –

Bank borrowings 17,360 19,059 19,059 –

Lease liabilities 1,046 1,086 864 222
Bank overdrafts 9,975 9,975 9,975 –      

61,139 62,878 60,127 2,751
      

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand 
clause are included in the “on demand or less than 
1 year” time band in the above maturity analysis. 
At 31 December 2024, the aggregate undiscounted 
principal amounts of bank borrowings and 
o v e r d r a f t s  a m o u n t e d  t o  a p p r o x i m a t e l y 
HK$26,294,000 (2023: HK$29,034,000). Taking 
into account the Group’s financial position, the 
directors of the Company do not believe that it is 
probable that the bank will exercise its discretionary 
right to demand immediate repayment. The 
directors of the Company believe that such bank 
borrowings and overdrafts will be repaid in one 
year to nine years (2023: one year to ten years) 
after the end of the reporting period in accordance 
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the 
bank borrowing agreements.
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3. 

3.1 

(c) 

3.2 

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within one year 17,809 19,156
1 to 2 years 1 2 1,144 1,173
2 to 5 years 2 5 3,432 3,520
Over 5 years 5 3,909 5,185    

26,294 29,034
    

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group manages capital to ensure that entities in the 
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to the shareholders through the 
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s 
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.2 Capital risk management (Continued)

Total capital of the Group is calculated as total equity 
plus total borrowings (including total interest-bearing 
borrowings and lease liabilities). The Group’s gearing 
ratio, which is calculated by dividing the total borrowings 
by total equity at the year-end date. The gearing ratio of 
the Group was as follows:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Total borrowings 25,329 28,381
Total equity 66,738 65,663    

Gearing ratio 38.0% 43.2%
    

The gearing ratio decreased from approximately 43.2% 
at 31 December 2023 to approximately 38.0% at 31 
December 2024, primarily due to the increase in total 
equity resulting from the increase in retained profits 
attributable to recording a net profit for the year 
outweighed the decrease in the total interest-bearing 
borrowings which was due to the decrease of drawdown 
of revolving loans during the year ended 31 December 
2024.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure 
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors 
of the Company consider the cost of the risk associated 
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations 
of the directors of the Company, the Group will balance 
its overall capital structure through the payment of 
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new 
debts or repayment of existing debts.

3. 

3.2 

43.2%
38.0%
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

The carrying values of trade receivables, other receivables 
and deposits, trade and retention payables, accruals and 
other payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities 
are a reasonable approximation of their fair values. The 
fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes 
is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash 
flows at the current market interest rate that is available 
to the Group for similar financial instruments.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below:

(a) Construction contracts

Management measures the progress towards completion 
of the Group’s performance obligations based on 
output method, which is to recognise revenue on the 
basis of measuring the progress of each performance 
obligation satisfied over time by reference to the value 
of construction works completed to date as a portion 
of the total contract value of the relevant construction 
contracts. The management’s estimate of revenue and 
the progress of construction works requires significant 
judgement and has a significant impact on the amount 
and timing of revenue recognised.

3. 

3.3 

4. 

(a) 
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4. 

(a) 

(b) 

9

3

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a) Construction contracts (Continued)

Management periodically measures the value of the 
construction works completed for each construction 
project based on results as certified by external surveyors 
or evaluated by internal project team and estimates the 
value of works completed but yet to be certified at the 
end of each reporting period. Management estimates 
the value of uncertified works based on surveys carried 
out by internal project team and certain projects maybe 
revisited with reference to certification subsequently 
performed by external surveyors. Management’s 
estimation of the value of the works may also be subject 
to changes due to variations of works, claims or disputes 
with customers. The Group regularly reviews and revises 
the estimation of construction contract progresses 
whenever there is any change in circumstances.

(b) Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

The Group fol lows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to 
determine the expected credit loss for trade receivables 
and contract assets. Significant judgement is exercised 
on the assessment of the lifetime expected credit 
losses for the trade receivables and contract assets (i.e. 
ECL Assessment). For the ECL Assessment, the Group 
has grouped trade receivables and contract assets 
with similar credit risk characteristics and estimated 
the expected credit losses allowance by considering a 
wide range of factors such as aging profile of overdue 
balances, the repayment and default histories of 
different customers, the historical credit loss rates, the 
post-year end subsequent settlements from respective 
customers, on-going business relationship with the 
relevant customers and forward-looking information that 
affecting the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding 
balances. At every reporting date, the expected credit 
losses are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered. Details of the 
assumptions and inputs used are discussed in Note 3 to 
the consolidated financial statements.
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4.  

(c) 

10%
56,000 45,000

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Deferred tax assets

The recognition of the deferred tax assets depends on 
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary 
differences will be available in the future. In cases 
where the actual future profits generated are less than 
expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may 
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which such a reversal takes place.

Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss 
allowance for trade receivables and contract assets by 
using various inputs and assumptions including but not 
limited to risk of default. The estimation involves high 
degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s 
historical information, existing market conditions as well 
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting 
period. Where the actual outcome is different from the 
original estimate, such difference will impact the profit 
or loss and the carrying amount of trade receivables and 
contract assets. If the ECL rates of the trade receivables 
and contract assets between 1 and over 1 year past due 
had been 10% higher (lower) at the end of the reporting 
period, with other assumptions held constant, the loss 
allowance would have been approximately HK$56,000 
(2023: HK$45,000) higher (lower).
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5.  

2

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group’s revenue is derived from the provision of supply, 
installation, and fitting-out services of MVAC system for 
buildings to external customers in Hong Kong and Macau 
during the year. For the purposes of resources allocation and 
performance assessment, the chief operating decision maker 
reviews the overall results and financial position of the Group 
as a whole prepared based on the accounting policies as set 
out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The 
Group has only one single operating segment and no further 
analysis of this single segment is presented.

 
Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue from construction contracts 176,764 114,570
    

The Group’s revenue is recognised over time for the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Unsatisfied construction contracts

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance 
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) at 31 December 
2024 and 2023 and the expected timing of recognising 
revenue are as follows:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue from construction contracts to be 
recognised
Within one year  158,409 157,492
More than one year  401,871 54,289
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5. 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Geographical information

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue 
from external customers based on geographical location of the 
customers:

 
Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Hong Kong 174,784 102,677
Macau 1,980 11,893    

176,764 114,570
    

The following is an analysis of the carrying amounts of non-
current assets, excluding deferred income tax assets, analysed 
by the geographical area in which the assets are located:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Hong Kong 311 1,185
Macau 172 55    

483 1,240
    



130

Year ended 31 December 2024 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. 

10%

6. 

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of total 
revenue of the Group are as follows:

 
Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Customer A A 141,929 20,723
Customer B B 21,185 80,463
    

6. OTHER INCOME, NET
 

Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Bank interest income 310 280
Write-back of lease liabilities 23 –

Net exchange loss (10) (3)    

323 277
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7. 

8. 

7. EXPENSES BY NATURE
 

Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Costs of materials 61,812 46,601
Subcontractor costs 84,746 49,427
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) 9

– Directors’ remuneration (Note 10)  10 8,151 8,581
– Direct labour  9,517 10,797
– Administrative staff  3,519 3,371

(Reversal of) Provision for impairment losses 
on trade receivables, net

 
 (151) 126

(Reversal of) Provision for impairment losses 
on contract assets, net

 
 (3,557) 12,098

Write-off of contract assets – 11,207
Auditor’s remuneration

– Audit services  670 710
– Non-audit and other services  71 22

Depreciation of plant and equipment  
(Note 14)

 
 14 124 160

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) 15 441 786
Operating lease rentals in respect of short-

term leases of rented premises (Note 15)
 

 15 956 1,725
Legal and professional fees 2,530 2,512
Travelling expenses 370 364
Other expenses 3,323 4,816    

172,522 153,303
    

8. FINANCE COSTS
 

Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Finance costs
– Interest on bank borrowings  876 1,145
– Interest on bank overdrafts  505 592
– Interest on lease liabilities (Note 15)  15 30 66    

1,411 1,803
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1,500
5%

335,000
388,000

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
 

Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances 20,852 22,361
Pension cost – defined contribution scheme 335 388    

21,187 22,749
    

Defined contribution scheme

The Group participates in a defined contribution scheme which 
is registered under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the 
“MPF Scheme”) established under the Mandatory Provident 
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the schemes are held 
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control 
of trustees. For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group 
contributes at the lower of HK$1,500 per month or 5% of 
relevant payroll costs each month to the MPF Scheme, which 
contribution is matched by the employee.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement scheme 
for eligible employee in Macau. The assets of the scheme are 
held separately from those of the Group in funds under the 
control of an independent trustee. The Group has no further 
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. 
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses 
when they are due and are reduced by contributions forfeited 
by those employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully 
in the contributions.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$335,000 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$388,000) 
represents contributions paid and payable by the Group 
at rates as specified in the respective rules of the above 
mentioned schemes.
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9. 

10

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two 
directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: two 
directors), details of whose remunerations are set out in 
Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of 
the remuneration for the year of the remaining highest paid 
employees who are neither director nor chief executive officer 
of the Company are as follows:

 
Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Salaries and other benefits 2,661 2,504
Contribution to retirement benefits scheme 36 54    

2,697 2,558
    

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the 
director or chief executive officer of the Company whose 
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

 
Number of employees

 
2024 2023

    

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 1,500,000 1 1
    

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the 
directors of the Company or the five highest paid individuals 
(including directors and employees) as an inducement to join 
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of 
office.
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10. 
622

383
622G

(a) 

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 
OF THE CO (CAP.622) AND COMPANIES 
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT 
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION 
(CAP.622G)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (included as key 
management compensation)

The remuneration of the directors is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

   
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors

   
Mr. Chung 
Chi Keung 

(“Mr. Chung”)*
Ms. Lai 

Suk Fan
Mr. Choy 

Hiu Fai, Eric Mr. Lei For
Mr. Lai 

Wai Ming Total

*
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Fees – – 180 180 180 540
Other emoluments
– Salaries and other benefits 4,975 1,235 – – – 6,210
– Discretionary bonus 780 585 – – – 1,365
– Contribution to retirement  
  benefits scheme – 36 – – – 36        

Total 5,755 1,856 180 180 180 8,151
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10. 
622

383
622G

(a) 

* 

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 
OF THE CO (CAP.622) AND COMPANIES 
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT 
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION 
(CAP.622G) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (included as key 
management compensation) (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

   
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors

   

Mr. Chung*
Ms. Lai 

Suk Fan
Mr. Choy 

Hiu Fai, Eric Mr. Lei For
Mr. Lai 

Wai Ming Total
*

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Fees – – 180 180 180 540
Other emoluments
– Salaries and other benefits 4,975 1,235 – – – 6,210
– Discretionary bonus 1,120 675 – – – 1,795
– Contribution to retirement 
  benefits scheme – 36 – – – 36        

Total 6,095 1,946 180 180 180 8,581
        

* Mr. Chung is the Chief Executive Officer of the Group for 
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Discretionary bonus was determined with reference 
to the Group’s operat ing results and indiv idual 
performance.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, 
no emoluments were paid by the Group to directors of 
the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining 
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. There 
was no arrangement under which a director or the chief 
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration 
during both years.
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10. 
622

383
622G

(b) 

10(a)

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

28

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 
OF THE CO (CAP.622) AND COMPANIES 
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT 
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION 
(CAP.622G) (Continued)

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination 
benefits

Save as disclosed in Note 10(a) to the consolidated 
financial statements, the directors of the Company did 
not receive any other retirement benefits or termination 
benefits during the year (2023: Nil).

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for making 
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making 
available the directors’ services (2023: Nil).

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other 
dealings in favour of directors

At 31 December 2024, there are no loans, quasi-
loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of the 
directors of the Company or its holding company, bodies 
corporate controlled by and connected entities with such 
directors (2023: Nil).

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions, 
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial 
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements 
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to 
which the Group was a party and in which a director of 
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time 
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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11. 

(i) 

7

2,000,000 8.25%
8.25%

2,000,000
16.5% 16.5%

16.5%
16.5%

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT)

The amount of income tax expense (credit) charged/credited 
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
represents:

 
Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current income tax:
Hong Kong profits tax  

Under provision in prior years   – 606
Macau complementary tax  

Under provision in prior years   199 –    

199 606
Deferred income tax (Note 23) 23 1,882 (4,960)    

Income tax expense (credit) 2,081 (4,354)
    

(i) Hong Kong profits tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council 
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 
2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits 
tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day. 
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first 
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will 
be taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%), and profits above 
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5% (2023:16.5%). The 
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered 
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat 
rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%).
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11.  

(ii) 

25/2024 23

600,000
582,000

12%
12%

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) 
(Continued)

(ii) Macau Complementary Tax

Pursuant to a tax incentive approved under Section 23 of 
Decree Law No. 25/2024, Macau Complementary Tax is 
levied at a fixed rate of 12% (2023: 12%) on the taxable 
income above MOP600,000 (approximately HK$582,000) 
of the Group’s operations in Macau.

The income tax expense (credit) for the year can be reconciled 
to the profit (loss) before income tax per the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income as follows:

 
Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Profit (Loss) before income tax 3,154 (40,259)
    

Tax calculated at the applicable tax rates 595 (5,956)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 961 1,022
Income not subject to tax – (2)
Under provision in prior years 199 606
Tax effect of losses not recognised 481 –

Others (155) (24)    

Income tax expense (credit) 2,081 (4,354)
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12. 

13.  

12. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was declared or paid by the Company during the 
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

13. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER 
SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the 
profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during 
the year.

 
Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

    

Profit (Loss) attributable to owners of the 
Company (in HK$’000)

 
 1,073 (35,905)

    

Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue 162,250,000 162,250,000

    

Basic earnings (loss) per share (HK cents per 
share)

 
 0.66 (22.13)

    

Diluted earnings (loss) per share is equal to the basic earnings 
(loss) per share since the Company has no dilutive potential 
shares during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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14. 

124,000
160,000

14. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
   

Motor 
vehicles

Furniture 
and office 

equipment Machinery Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Year ended 31 December 2023  
 

At 1 January 2023 68 182 126 376
Exchange differences 1 – – 1
Depreciation (43) (91) (26) (160)      

At 31 December 2023  
 26 91 100 217

      

At 31 December 2023  
 

Cost 1,209 805 129 2,143
Accumulated depreciation (1,183) (714) (29) (1,926)      

Net book amount 26 91 100 217
      

Year ended 31 December 2024  
 

At 1 January 2024 26 91 100 217
Exchange differences (1) – – (1)
Addition – – 221 221
Depreciation (25) (58) (41) (124)      

At 31 December 2024  
 – 33 280 313

      

At 31 December 2024  
 

Cost 1,209 805 350 2,364
Accumulated depreciation (1,209) (772) (70) (2,051)      

Net book amount – 33 280 313
      

During the year ended 31 December 2024, depreciation 
of HK$124,000 (2023: HK$160,000) were charged to 
“administrative expenses” and “cost of sales” in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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15. 

(i) 

2 1 6 , 0 0 0
1,673,000

628,000

15. LEASES

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement 
of financial position relating to leases

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Right-of-use assets
At 1 January 1,023 136
Additions 216 1,673
Depreciation (441) (786)
Write-off (628) –    

At 31 December 170 1,023
    

Cost 216 3,741
Accumulated depreciation (46) (2,718)    

Net book amount 170 1,023
    

Lease liabilities
Current 108 826
Non-current 56 220    

164 1,046
    

During the year ended 31 December 2024, additions 
to the right-of-use assets were HK$216,000 (2023: 
HK$1,673,000) and write-off due to early termination to 
the right-of-use assets were HK$628,000 (2023: Nil).
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15. 

(ii) 

1,433,000
2,559,000

550,000
643,000

(iii) 

1 2

15. LEASES (Continued)

(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income relating to leases

  
Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Depreciation of right-of-use 
assets – office premises 
and staff quarters (included 
in cost of sales and 
administrative expenses)

 
  
  
 
 7 441 786

Interest expense (included in 
finance costs)

 
 8 30 66

Expense related to short-term 
leases (included in cost of 
sales and administrative 
expenses)

 
  
 

7 956 1,725
     

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total 
cash outflow for leases were HK$1,433,000 (2023: 
HK$2,559,000).

At 31 December 2024, the Group was committed to 
HK$550,000 (2023: HK$643,000) for short-term leases.

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are 
accounted for

The Group leases office premises and staff quarters. 
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 
to 2 years with no extension option.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and 
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. 
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants 
other than the security interests in the leased assets that 
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as 
security for borrowing purposes.
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16. 

12
23,044,000

20,100,000
12

16. CONTRACT ASSETS
 

At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Construction contracts 72,499 81,963
Less: Provision for impairment loss allowance (9,594) (13,150)    

62,905 68,813
    

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to 
consideration for work completed and not billed because the 
rights are conditional on the Group’s future performance. 
Included in contract assets are retention receivables. Retention 
receivables arise from the Group’s construction project and 
are held by customers in order to provide the customers 
with assurance that the Group will complete its obligations 
satisfactorily under the contracts, rather than to provide 
financing to the customers. They are generally settled within a 
period ranging from one to two years upon the completion of 
construction work. The contract assets are transferred to trade 
receivables when the rights become unconditional. The Group 
typically reclassifies contract assets to trade receivables on the 
date of payment certificates issued by the customers when 
such right of collections becomes unconditional other than the 
passage of time.

At the end of the reporting period, the contract assets that 
are expected to be recovered after more than 12 months are 
HK$23,044,000 (2023: HK$20,100,000), which represented 
the retention receivables. The remaining contract assets are 
expected to be recovered within 12 months.
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16. 

15

 

3.1(b)

16. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

The movements of contract assets (before loss allowance and 
excluding those arising from increases and decrease both 
occurred within the same year) from contracts with customers 
within HKFRS 15 during the years are as follows:

  
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 January 81,963 123,288
Transferred to trade receivables (20,613) (36,280)
Recognition of revenue 11,149 6,162
Write-off of contract assets (Note) – (11,207)    

At 31 December 72,499 81,963
    

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2023, contract assets were 
written off upon finalisation of projects with customers which 
the management of the Group considered that there was no 
reasonable expectation of recovery on certain construction work 
completed by the Group.

Movements in the loss allowance on contract assets are as 
follows:

  
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 January 13,150 1,053
(Reversal of) Provision for impairment loss (3,557) 12,098
Exchange differences 1 (1)    

At 31 December 9,594 13,150
    

Details of the impairment assessment for the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note 3.1(b) to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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16. 

17. 

16. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

The retention receivables (net of loss allowance) to be settled, 
based on the expiry of retention period, at the end of the 
reporting period are:

  
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within one year 7,177 6,252
After one year 23,044 20,100    

30,221 26,352
    

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade receivables (Note i) i 29,692 34,420
Less: Provision for impairment loss allowance (2,178) (2,328)    

27,514 32,092
Other receivables and deposits (Note ii) ii 1,017 998
Prepayments 1,456 1,338    

29,987 34,428
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17. 

(i) 

30 45

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables

Trade receivables arise from the provision of supply, 
installation and fitting-out services of MVAC system for 
buildings. The Group grants a credit period ranged from 
30 to 45 days to its customers. The following is an aging 
analysis of trade receivables based on valuation dates 
of payment certificates or reports net of provision for 
impairment loss allowance at the end of the reporting 
period:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0 to 30 days 0 30 9,235 10,491
31 to 60 days 31 60 5,072 6,386
61 to 90 days 61 90 8,928 1,294
91 to 180 days 91 180 728 4,055
181 to 365 days 181 365 – 6,272
Over 1 year 3,551 3,594    

27,514 32,092
    

The fair value of trade receivables approximate their 
carrying values.
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17. 

(i) 

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

The carry ing amounts of t rade rece ivab les are 
denominated in the following currencies:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

HK$ 23,890 27,523
MOP 3,624 4,569    

27,514 32,092
    

Before accepting any new customers, the Group assesses 
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit 
limits by customer. Credit limits granted to customers are 
reviewed periodically. Management of the Group closely 
monitors the credit quality of trade receivables and 
considers the majority of the Group’s trade receivables 
that are past due but not impaired have good credit 
quality with reference to respective settlement history.
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17. 

(i) 

3.1(b)

(ii) 

3.1(b)

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

Movements of the (reversal of) provision for impairment 
loss allowance on trade receivables are as follows:

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 January 2,328 2,203
(Reversal of) Provision for 
 impairment loss (151) 126
Exchange differences 1 (1)    

At 31 December 2,178 2,328
    

Details of impairment assessment for the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note 3.1(b) to 
the consolidated financial statements.

(ii) Other receivables and deposits

The fair value of other receivables and deposits 
approximate their carrying values.

Detai ls of impairment assessment for the other 
receivables and deposits for the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note 3.1(b) to 
the consolidated financial statements.
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18. 

3.80%
3.50%

4.01% 4.35% 26

18. PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS 
AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Pledged bank deposits 7,352 7,102
Restricted bank deposits – 2,306    

7,352 9,408
    

Cash and cash equivalents 16,576 6,014
Bank overdrafts (Note 21) 21 (6,848) (9,975)    

Balances per consolidated statement of cash 
flows 9,728 (3,961)

    

The pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to 
banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group 
(including overdraft and trade facilities) with maturity within 
one year from the end of the reporting period and is therefore 
classified as a current asset. The pledged bank deposits carried 
interest at a fixed rate at 3.80% per annum at 31 December 
2024 (2023: 3.50% per annum).

The restricted bank deposits represent cash held at banks as 
security for due performance under several service contracts of 
MVAC system for buildings with prevailing market interest rate 
ranging from 4.01% to 4.35% per annum at 31 December 
2023 (Note 26).
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18. 
 

19. 

30 60

18. PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS 
AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of pledged and restricted bank deposits 
and cash and cash equivalents (net of bank overdrafts) 
approximate their fair values and are denominated in the 
following currencies:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

HK$ 15,571 5,050
MOP 1,509 397    

17,080 5,447
    

19. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES
 

At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade payables 21,714 24,616
Retention payables 8,361 6,412    

30,075 31,028
    

The credit period of trade payables granted by subcontractors 
and suppliers ranges from 30 to 60 days upon the issue of 
invoices or application of interim payment generally.
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19. 19. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES 
(Continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables based 
on the invoice dates or the dates of application of interim 
payment, as appropriate.

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0 to 30 days 0 30 10,173 9,909
31 to 60 days 31 60 5,163 3,916
61 to 90 days 61 90 3,916 2,729
91 to 180 days 91 180 1,628 4,650
181 days to 1 year 181 47 1,226
Over 1 year 787 2,186    

21,714 24,616
    

Retention payables to subcontractors are interest-free and 
payable at the end of the defect liability period of individual 
contracts, normally one year from the completion date of the 
respective project.
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19. 19. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES 
(Continued)

The retention payables are expected to be settled, based on 
the expiry date of the defect liability period, at the end of the 
reporting period as follows:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Due within one year 2,535 3,883
Due after one year 5,826 2,529    

8,361 6,412
    

The carrying amounts of trade and retention payables 
approximate their fair values and are denominated in the 
following currencies:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

HK$ 27,312 24,438
MOP 2,763 6,590    

30,075 31,028
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20. 20. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 
EXPENSES

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Accrued staff costs 2,450 3,997
Other accrued charges 1,293 1,447
Other payables 233 283    

3,976 5,727
    

Other payables and accrued expenses are denominated in the 
following currencies:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

HK$ 3,320 4,799
MOP 656 928    

3,976 5,727
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21. 

2.5%
0.5%

2.5%
0.5%

3.0% 6.625%
3.5% 6.625%

5.5% 6.125%
5.875% 6.125%

21. BANK BORROWINGS
 

At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Secured:
 – Bank borrowings  – 18,317 17,360
 – Bank overdrafts  – 6,848 9,975    

25,165 27,335
    

The fair value of the bank borrowings approximates their 
carrying amount as the impact of discounting is not significant.

The bank borrowings and overdrafts due for repayment are as 
follows:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

On demand or within one year 25,165 27,335
    

The bank borrowings at 31 December 2024 carried interest 
either at 2.5% below Hong Kong Prime Rate or at Hong 
Kong Prime Rate plus interest rate at 0.5% (2023: at 2.5% 
below Hong Kong Prime Rate or at Hong Kong Prime Rate 
plus interest rate at 0.5%). The effective interest rate on the 
bank borrowings (which is also equal to contracted interest 
rate) is ranging from 3.0% to 6.625% per annum (2023: 
3.5% to 6.625% per annum). The bank overdrafts at 31 
December 2024 carried interest at Hong Kong Prime Rate and 
the effective interest rate is ranging from 5.5% to 6.125% per 
annum (2023: 5.875% to 6.125% per annum). The Group’s 
bank borrowings are denominated in HK$.
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21. 

47,971,000
30,000,000

9,000,000

21. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, a bank borrowing is secured 
by a corporate guarantee of HK$47,971,000 given by the 
Company, by personal guarantee of a director, Mr. Chung 
of HK$30,000,000 and the property held by a director, Mr. 
Chung. Another bank borrowing is secured by personal 
guarantee of a director, Mr. Chung of HK$9,000,000.

Analysis of the amounts due based on scheduled payment 
dates set out in the loan agreements (ignoring the effect of 
any repayment on demand clause) is as follows:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within one year 17,565 18,833
1 to 2 years 1 929 880
2 to 5 years 2 5 2,960 2,838
Over 5 years 5 3,711 4,784    

25,165 27,335
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22. 

(i) 

(ii) 

(a) 

(b) 

22. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(i) Share capital

The movements in the Company’s authorised and issued 
ordinary share capital are as follows:

   
Nominal 

value per share
Number 

of shares Total

HK$’000

     

Authorised:     

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 
 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024   

  
  
 

HK$0.04
0.04 25,000,000,000 1,000,000

     

Issued and fully paid:     

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 
 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024   

  
  
 

HK$0.04
0.04 162,250,000 6,490

     

(ii) Reserves

(a) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the waived dividends 
declared and approved by the Company to the 
shareholders in 2017, which are deemed as capital 
contribution from shareholders and credited to the 
capital reserve of the Company.

(b) Other reserve

Other reserve of the Group represented the 
difference between the share capital of the 
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation 
as completed in December 2016 and the nominal 
value of the share capital of the Company issued in 
exchange thereof.
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23. 23. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS

The following is the analysis of the deferred income tax assets 
for financial reporting purposes:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Deferred income tax assets 8,815 10,697
    

The following is an analysis of deferred income tax assets 
recognised and their movements during the year:

   
Expected 

credit loss 
provision Tax losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

At 1 January 2023 327 5,410 5,737
Credited to consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income 1,713 3,247 4,960     

At 31 December 2023  
 2,040 8,657 10,697

Charged to consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income (493) (1,389) (1,882)     

At 31 December 2024  
 1,547 7,268 8,815
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23.  

4,008,000

23. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS 
(Continued)

Despite the Group has suffered losses in prior periods, a 
deferred tax asset arising from the unused tax losses has been 
recognised in excess of the profits arising from the reversal 
of existing taxable temporary differences. The Group has 
concluded that the deferred tax asset will be recoverable using 
the estimated future taxable income based on the approved 
business plans and budgets. The Group is expected to generate 
taxable income from 2024 onwards. The recognised tax losses 
will expire as follows:

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Year 2026 6,875 6,875
No expiry 37,927 47,345    

44,802 54,220
    

At the end of the reporting period, the tax losses before 
multiplied tax rate amount to HK$4,008,000, which will be 
expired in 2027 and have not been recognised because it is 
not probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the Group can utilise the benefits therefrom.
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24. 24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
 

At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost

– Trade receivables (Note 17)  17 27,514 32,092
– Other receivables and deposits (Note 17)   

   17 1,017 998
– Pledged and restricted bank deposits  

 (Note 18)
  
   18 7,352 9,408

– Cash and cash equivalents (Note 18)   
   18 16,576 6,014    

52,459 48,512
    

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

– Trade and retention payables (Note 19)   
   19 30,075 31,028

– Other payables (Note 20)  20 1,526 1,730
– Bank borrowings (Note 21)  21 25,165 27,335
– Lease liabilities (Note 15)  15 164 1,046    

56,930 61,139
    



160

Year ended 31 December 2024 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. 

(a) 

25. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS

(a) Cash flows generated from operations

 
Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cash flows generated from
  operations
Profit (Loss) before income tax 3,154 (40,259)
Adjustments for:

(Reversal of) Provision for impairment 
losses on trade receivables, net

 
  (151) 126

(Reversal of) Provision for 
impairment losses on contract 
assets, net

 
  

(3,557) 12,098
Write-back of lease liabilities, net  (23) –

Write-off of contract assets  – 11,207
Depreciation of plant and equipment  124 160
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  441 786
Interest expense  1,411 1,803
Interest income  (310) (280)

Operating profit (loss) before 
working capital changes  1,089 (14,359)
Decrease in contract assets  9,465 30,073
Decrease in trade and other 

receivables, deposits and 
prepayments

  
  

4,796 1,294
Decrease in trade and retention 

payables
  
  (953) (9,831)

(Decrease) Increase in other payables 
and accrued expenses

  
  (1,773) 439    

Cash generated from operations 12,624 7,616
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25. 

(b) 

(c) 

25. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Non-cash investing and financing activities

 
Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Additions to right-of-use assets 
 (Note 15)

15
216 1,673

    

(c) Net debt reconciliation

 
At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Bank borrowings – variable interest 
rate (18,317) (17,360)

Lease liabilities – fixed interest rate (164) (1,046)    

Net debt (18,481) (18,406)
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25. 

(c) 

25. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Net debt reconciliation (Continued)

 
Liabilities from financing activities

 
Bank 

borrowings
Lease 

liabilities Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Net debt at 1 January 2023  
 (28,798) (141) (28,939)

Non-cash interest expenses – (66) (66)
Addition from new lease  – (1,673) (1,673)
Cash flows 11,438 834 12,272     

Net debt at 31 December 2023  
 (17,360) (1,046) (18,406)

Non-cash interest expenses – (30) (30)
Addition from new lease – (216) (216)
Write-back of lease liabilities – 651 651
Cash flows (957) 477 (480)     

Net debt at 31 December 2024  
 (18,317) (164) (18,481)
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26. 

(a) 

(b) 

13,853,000
13,491,000

26. CONTINGENCIES
 

At 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Performance bonds (Note a) a – 2,737
Corporate guarantee (Note b) b 13,853 13,491
    

Note:

(a) Certain customers required the Group to procure performance 
bonds to be provided by a bank in favour of them as security for 
due performance and observance of the obligations under the 
contracts. In procuring such performance bonds, the Group was 
usually required to place a required amount of deposit with such 
bank. If the Group failed to provide satisfactory services to the 
customers, the customers were entitled to seek compensation 
from the bank for the amount of financial losses incurred not 
exceeding the amount of the performance bonds. The Group 
will then become liable to compensate the bank accordingly. 
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no call 
was made on any performance bonds of the Group. Typically, 
the estimated consideration was not constrained for revenue 
recognition.

(b) At 31 December 2024, the Group provided corporate 
guarantee amounted to approximately HK$13,853,000 (2023: 
HK$13,491,000) to one (2023: one) customer as an indemnity 
for four (2023: three) construction contracts. During the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no corporate guarantee 
was being enforced. Typically, the estimated consideration is not 
constrained for revenue recognition.
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27. 

1,884,000
1,830,000

392,000 380,000

132,000 128,000

28. 

27. LITIGATION

In March 2022, a claim was submitted by a subcontractor of 
the Group in Macau claiming the allegedly due and unpaid 
balance of subcontracting fees against Botop Engineering 
(Macau) Limited (“Botop Macau”), a subsidiary of the Group in 
Macau, for a sum of approximately MOP1,884,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$1,830,000), the (“Claim”). 

In October 2024, Botop Macau received the judgment 
(“Judgment”) handed down by the Macau Tribunal Judicial 
De Base. According to the Judgment, part of the Claim was 
dismissed whereas Botop Macau shall repay the claimant only 
retention payables of approximately MOP392,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$380,000) and the outstanding interest 
calculated at judgment rate of approximately MOP132,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$128,000) (together 
“Judgment Debt”). At 31 December 2024, the Judgment Debt 
has been fully paid by Botop Macau and the litigation was 
concluded.

28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel are deemed to be the members 
of the board of directors and senior management of the 
Company who have the responsibility for the planning and 
controlling the activities of the Group. The remuneration of 
directors and the senior management during the year is as 
follows:

 
Year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Salaries and other benefits 7,267 7,236
Discretionary bonus 1,406 1,835
Contribution to retirement benefits scheme 54 54    

8,727 9,125
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29. 

* 
Wing Fung Investment Management 
Limited

# 

29. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 
COMPANY

The Company has direct and indirect equity interests in the 
following subsidiaries:

      

Name of 
subsidiaries

Place and 
date of 
incorporation

Principal place 
of business

Issued 
and fully 

paid share 
capital/quota 

capital
Equity interest attributable 

to the Group Principal activities

 
2024 2023

       

Botop Engineering (Macau) Limited * Macau, 5 March 2007 Macau MOP25,000 100% 100% Provision of supply, installation 
and fitting-out services of 
MVAC system for buildings in 
Macau

*  
  
 

25,000
 
 

Wing Fung Engineering (H.K.) Limited # Hong Kong, 25 July  
 1996

Hong Kong HK$700 100% 100% Provision of supply, installation 
and fitting-out services of 
MVAC system for buildings in 
Hong Kong

#  
  
 

700
 
 

Wing Fung Investment Management Limited # The BVI, 22 September 
 2016

Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Wing Fung Investment Management
 Limited#

 
  
 

1

Wing Fung Enterprises Asia Limited # Hong Kong,  
 19 December 2022

Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Trading of construction materials

#  
  
 

1

* Subsidiary indirectly held by the Company and is the subsidiary 
of Wing Fung Investment Management Limited

# Subsidiaries directly held by the Company

All of the above subsidiaries are limited liability companies. 
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during 
the year or at the end of the year.
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30.  

622

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 
THE COMPANY

Pursuant to the disclosure requirements of the CO (Cap. 622), 
the statement of financial position of the Company and the 
movements in its reserves is set out below:

  
2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries  37,966 37,966
Amount due from subsidiaries  (a) 5,120 5,093     

43,086 43,059     

Current assets
Other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments
  
  1,474 1,351

Cash and cash equivalents  251 447     

1,725 1,798     

Total assets 44,811 44,857     

Non-current liabilities
Amount due to a subsidiary  (b) 21,423 15,283     

Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued 

expenses
  
  1,526 2,010     

Total liabilities 22,949 17,293     

Net assets 21,862 27,564
     

Equity
Share capital  22(i) 6,490 6,490
Reserves  (c) 15,372 21,074     

Total equity 21,862 27,564
     

This statement of financial position was approved and 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 March 
2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

    
Chung Chi Keung Lai Suk Fan

Director Director
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30. 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

(a) The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are 
expected to be recovered after twelve months from the end of 
the reporting period.

(b) The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and is expected 
to be repaid after twelve months from the end of the reporting 
period.

(c) The movements in the Company’s reserves are as follows:

    
Share 

premium
Capital 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 January 2023  
 50,549 11,676 (35,129) 27,096

Loss for the year and total 
comprehensive expenses for 
the year

 
 

– – (6,022) (6,022)      

At 31 December 2023 and 1 
January 2024

 
  
 50,549 11,676 (41,151) 21,074

Loss for the year and total 
comprehensive expenses for 
the year

 
 

– – (5,702) (5,702)      

At 31 December 2024  
 50,549 11,676 (46,853) 15,372
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

For the five years ended 31 December 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 
2024

RESULTS
     

For the year ended 31 December

 
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Consolidated results
       

Revenue 176,764 114,570 184,020 174,824 221,225
Gross profit (loss) 18,883 3,062 486 (7,220) 41,664
Profit (Loss) before income tax 3,154 (40,259) (13,815) (24,906) 25,712
Profit (Loss) for the year 1,073 (35,905) (11,199) (21,823) 22,571
       

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
     

At 31 December

 
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Consolidated assets HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
and liabilities
       

Total assets 126,118 130,799 186,244 188,110 216,618
Total liabilities (59,380) (65,136) (84,618) (75,035) (91,828)
Net assets 66,738 65,663 101,626 113,075 124,790
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